
 
Agenda compiled by: 
Governance Services 
Civic Hall 
LEEDS LS1 1UR 
Telephone 

 
John Grieve 
(0113) 224 3836 

 

  Produced on Recycled Paper 

 

 

 

 

LEEDS ADMISSIONS FORUM 
 

Meeting to be held in Civic Hall, Leeds on 
Tuesday, 6th April, 2010 at 4.00 pm  

 

 
MEMBERSHIP 

 
COUNCILLORS PARENTS 

 

Councillor Peter Gruen 
Councillor Richard Harker 
 

 Mrs L Bryan - High School 
Mrs S Knight – Primary School 

  

LOCAL COMMUNITY REPRESENTATIVES 
 

Ms P Hill 
Mr R Hamilton 
Mrs S Duxbury 
Vacancy 

- Leeds Primary Care Trust 
- Black Governors Information Network 
- Prospect 
-  

 

DIOCESAN AUTHORIES  
 

Mrs B Sice 
Mrs F Beevers 
 

- RC Diocese 
York, Bradford Ripon & Leeds 
CE Diocese 

 

 

SCHOOLS ACADEMY 
 

Mr J Daulby 
Vacancy 
Mrs H Lewis 
 
Mr Wood  
Vacancy 
Mr I Garforth 

- Community School 
- Community School 
- Jewish (Aided) 

School 
- Aided School 
- Controlled School 
- Foundation School 

Mr P Forbes - David Young 
Academy 

 

OTHER MEMBERS COLLEGE MEMBERS 

Mr J Fryett – Fair Access Project Director 
Ms A Williams – Choice Advice Service 
 

Mr T Waring – Joseph Priestley College  

Public Document Pack



 
 

A G E N D A 
 
 

Item 
No 

 Page 
No 

1   
 

CHAIR'S OPENING REMARKS 
 

 

 To receive any opening remarks from the Chair 
 

 

2   
 

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

 

 To receive apologies for absence (If any) 
 

 

3   
 

UPDATE ON THE MEMBERSHIP - LEEDS ADMISSION FORUM 
 

 

 To receive an update on the Membership of the Leeds Admission Forum: 
Appointments, Resignations and Outstanding Vacancies 
 

 

4   
 

MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 
 

1 - 6 

 To consider the minutes of the previous meeting held on 2nd February 2010 
 
(Copy attached) 
 

 

5   
 

MATTERS ARISING FROM THE MINUTES 
 

 

 To consider any matters arising from the minutes 
 

 

6   
 

OUTCOME OF STATUTORY CONSULTATION FOR CHANGES TO 
PRIMARY PROVISION IN HORSFORTH FOR SEPTEMBER 2011 
 

7 - 38 

 To consider a report by the Chief Executive Education Leeds of Education 
Leeds summarising the outcome of the consultation exercise with respect to 
the proposed changes to primary age education provision in the Horsforth 
area from September 2011 
 
(Report attached) 
 
 
 
 
 

 



 

 

Item 
No 

 Page 
No 

7   
 

OUTCOME OF THE STATUTORY CONSULTATION FOR THE 
EXPANSION OF PRIMARY PROVISION FOR SEPTEMBER 2011 
 

39 - 48 

 To consider a report of the Chief Executive of Education Leeds which details  
the outcome of the consultation exercise to expand primary provision at a 
number of Leeds Schools for September 2011 
 
(Report attached) 
 

 

8   
 

OUTCOME OF CONSULTATION ON THE PROVISION OF GIRLS -ONLY 
EDUCATION IN LEEDS 
 

49 - 60 

 To consider a report by the Chief Executive of Education Leeds setting out 
details of the outcome of the city wide consultation exercise on the future 
provision of government funded, girls only, secondary education in Leeds 
 
(Report attached) 
 

 

9   
 

ADMISSION FORUM WORK PROGRAMME FOR 2010/11 
 

61 - 62 

 To receive the Forum’s Work Programme for the period 2010/11 and 
consider if further adjustments are required to the programme 
 
(Report attached) 
 

 

10   
 

ANY OTHER BUSINESS 
 

 

 To consider other business (If any) 
 

 

11   
 

DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING 
 

 

 To note that future meetings of the Forum will be scheduled as follows: 
 
Tuesday 22nd June 2010 
 
Tuesday 16th November 2010 
 
Meetings to the held in the Civic Hall, Leeds commencing at 4.00pm 
 

 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Tuesday, 22nd June, 2010 2010 

 

Leeds Admissions Forum 
 

Tuesday, 2nd February, 2010 
 

PRESENT: 
 

Councillor  P Gruen in the Chair 

 
Councillor R Harker 
Mrs S Knights – Primary School Parent 
Ms P Hill – Leeds Primary Care Trust 
Mrs S Duxbury – Prospect 
Mr J Daulby – Community High Schol 
Mr I Garforth – Foundation Schools 
Mr P Forbes – David Young Community Academy 
Mr J Fryett – Fair Access Project Director 
Ms A Williamson – Choice Advice Service 
 
In Attendance 
 
Mrs V Buckland – Education Leeds 
Mrs D Leonard – Legal Services 
Mr J Grieve – Governance Services 
 
27 CHAIR'S OPENING REMARKS 
  
The Chair welcomed everyone in attendance to this, the February meeting of the 
Leeds Admission Forum. 
 
28 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
  
Apologies for absence were received from: Mrs F Beevers, Mrs H Lewis and Mrs L 
Bryan 
 
29 UPDATE ON MEMBERSHIP - LEEDS ADMISSION FORUM 
  
The Chair sought an update on the Membership of the Forum: appointments, 
resignations and outstanding vacancies. 
 
In providing a response the Clerk to the Forum reported that two nominations had 
been received for the Community School (Primary) position and one for the 
Controlled School position. 
 
There still remained a vacancy within the Local Community Representatives Group 
and this was being actively pursued. 
 
All nominations will be forwarded onto the Director of Children’s Services 
(Commissioning and Partnership) who had delegated authority to approve 
appointments to the Forum 
 
RESOLVED – To note that all vacancies were been actively pursued  

Agenda Item 4

Page 1



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Tuesday, 22nd June, 2010 2010 

 

30 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 
  
RESOLVED – That the minutes of the previous meeting held on 26th November 
2009 be accepted as a true and correct record 
 
31 MATTERS ARISING FROM THE MINUTES 
  
(a) Matters Arising (Minute No. 21 refers) – An outstanding response awaited by 

Forum Member Paul Forbes from the Director of Integrated Children’s 
Services following his enquiry about the status of a number of children that 
had come to his attention. Mr Forbes reported that a response had been 
received and a meeting had been set up. 

 
(b) Proposed Admission Number Changes as part of the Admission 

Arrangements for the September 2011 Round (Minute No. 22 refers) – The 
Chair sought an update and asked if the consultation process for the schools 
who would be physically expanding had ended? 

 
 In responding Mrs Buckland, Head of Service, Admissions and Transport said 

consultation was still ongoing with deadline for comments by 12th February 
2010. A number of Governing Bodies/ Schools had responded, raising issues 
such as increased traffic generation and loss of pupils to neighbouring 
schools. All responses would be collated and incorporated within a report 
which would be submitted to the Executive Board in April 2010. It should be 
noted that this statutory consultation was separate from the annual 
consultation on admission arrangements for 2011. 

   
32 CHALLENGING AND VULNERABLE CHILDREN'S SUB COMMITTEE  
 
The Minutes of the Challenging and Vulnerable Children’s Sub Committee held on 
12th January 2010 were circulated for Members consideration and approval. 
 
Sue Knight, Chair of the Sub Committee said that due to the adverse weather 
conditions attendance at the meeting was low, with the meeting being inquorate. 
 
Commenting on the minutes of the meeting Mr Daulby, referring to Minute No. 11 
(Matters Arising from the Previous Meeting) said the process for appointing a Project 
Director for the East Area appeared to be very slow moving. 
 
RESOLVED – That the Minutes of the meeting held on 12th January 2010 be 
accepted as a true and correct record 
 
33 RECORDING OF FAIR ACCESS STATISTICS 
  
The Chief Executive Education Leeds submitted a report setting out details of the 
implementation of new processes for the recording of Fair Access data on the 
admission of children through the Fair Access Panels. 
 
RESOLVED – That the contents of the report be noted 

Page 2



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Tuesday, 22nd June, 2010 2010 

 

34 UPDATE ON THE ANNUAL CONSULTATION ON ADMISSION 
 ARRANGEMENTS FOR SEPTEMBER 2011  
 
The Chief Executive Education Leeds submitted a report which provided an update 
on the response, so far received, to the consultation on admission arrangements for 
September 2011. 
 
Addressing the report Mrs Buckland said that 11 responses had been received to 
date, mainly positive and in agreement with the proposals.  The closing date for the 
consultation is 5th February 2010.  Of the responses received one  expressed 
concerns about the in-year coordination scheme. In respect of the concerns raised 
about the migration of children from the Colton area to Primary Schools within the 
Garforth Trust, no responses had been received so far. 
 
RESOLVED – That the update on the consultation process be noted.  
 
35 INITIAL PREFERENCE SUMMARY FOR SEPTEMBER 2010 
  
The Chief Executive Education Leeds submitted a report providing an update on the 
initial preferences and the impact on demand for school places for September 2010 
 
Addressing the report Mrs Buckland said that although there would be a general 
demographic decline in young people entering secondary school over the next few 
years there were approximately the same numbers entering in September 2010 as 
there were in September 2009.  Demand overall had therefore remained broadly 
similar.     
 
The birth rate had been rising for the last couple of years and there was now a small, 
but increasing number of primary schools who would be unable to accommodate 
their nearest children. The number of primary schools oversubscribed on first 
preferences was increasing with 79 schools to date, that said, there are still some 
surplus places within the primary sector.   
 
Main Issues 
 
Primary Sector 
 
There are slightly more schools this year where nearest children were unlikely to be 
offered places.  However, the Admission Team were still receiving a number of 
changes including new preferences as well as information on children who have 
moved out of the area and no longer require places.  At present there were 22 
schools where it may be difficult to offer all the nearest children places.  The situation 
was being monitored to ensure that children who would be unable to access a school 
within a reasonable distance were identified. 
 
There were a small number of schools who were experiencing a very high sibling 
year which does affect the places available for other children.  Parents who might 
otherwise expect to gain places at some schools may face disappointment, but in a 
number of cases this was a one year problem. 30 community or voluntary controlled 
schools had first preferences where 50% or more of their admission limit were 

Page 3



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Tuesday, 22nd June, 2010 2010 

 

siblings, with 33% of preferences across the City being siblings.  There continues to 
be around 1000 more places across the primary sector, spread throughout the City, 
than there are preferences.  Although parental preferences are not met in all cases, 
there are reasonable alternatives available.  There had been an increase of around 
370 applications over the same time last year.  It was anticipated that there would be 
a large number of applications which arrive after the offer day, as this typically 
occurs, and these would be managed accordingly.  It is believed that the change in 
legislation to introduce a national closing date for applications would improve this 
position in the future if the government take the opportunity for national advertising, 
as they do with tax returns. 
 
Secondary 
 
Roundhay High School continues to be oversubscribed, although there were a 
number of the neighbouring schools who were experiencing a decline in preferences 
and there are sufficient places in the area.  Continuing to build on last year’s 
popularity John Smeaton was oversubscribed again on first preferences.  There is a 
significant increase in preferences at Allerton High although there appears to be no 
issue with children who have the school as their nearest, the additional demand is 
coming from families further a field.   
 
There are no obvious causes for concern in the secondary sector for this forthcoming 
September.  Although there are changes to patterns of demand, and relative 
popularity with parents, the oversubscribed schools are under no greater pressure 
from nearest families and demand is largely from further a field.  Some popular 
schools were less well subscribed this year and this was mostly reflective of local 
demographic changes, rather than any concerns parents are expressing about the 
schools. 
 
In conclusion Mrs Buckland said the early indications with Reception preferences is 
that there were an increasing number of hotspots, however, there continues to be 
sufficient primary places available within the City.  Issues may arise with late 
preferences after the offer day, and parents at that stage may find that the nearest 
school offered is some distance away.  With secondary applications the hotspots 
were significantly reducing and whilst demand remains high for some schools the 
issue of accessing a nearest school was continuing to fall.  There were fewer 
pressure points in terms of nearest children although it should be expected that 
some popular schools would continue to remain oversubscribed leading to unmet 
demand.  This is a natural consequence of an equal preference system whereby 
parents are encouraged to be aspirational in expressing their preferences. 
 
Oversubscribed Secondary schools for September 2010 
 
School Ad 

limit 
1st 
pref 

Abbey Grange 
 

205 246 

Allerton High 
 

180 266 

Cardinal Heenan 
 

180 226 

Page 4



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Tuesday, 22nd June, 2010 2010 

 

Cockburn 
 

210 225 

Corpus Christi 
 

184 211 

DYCA 
 

180 195 

Garforth 
 

300 341 

Horsforth 
 

225 266 

John Smeaton 
 

180 219 

Morley  
 

252 330 

Prince Henrys 
 

225 255 

Pudsey Grangefield 
 

195 319 

Rodillian 
 

210 251 

Roundhay 
 

250 399 

St Mary Menston 
 

180 196 

 
 
In passing comment the Chair suggested that it would be an interesting exercise to 
ascertain the reasons for parent’s preferencing a popular school. 
 
In providing a response Officers confirmed that such information could be obtained 
and be the subject of a report to the Forum at a future date 
 
RESOLVED –  
 

(i) That the contents of the report be noted 
 

(ii) That a report identifying the reasons why parents preference 
 popular schools be brought back to the Forum at a later date   

  
36 ADMISSION FORUM WORK PROGRAMME FOR 2010/11 
  
Members received and considered the Forum’s Work Programme for the period 
2010/11 
 
RESOLVED –  
 

(i) To note the scheduled Work Programme for 2010/11 
 

(ii) To update the Work Programme to reflect the decisions made at 
 today’s meeting 
 
 

Page 5



Draft minutes to be approved at the meeting  
to be held on Tuesday, 22nd June, 2010 2010 

 

37 ANY OTHER BUSINESS 
  
Rosebank Primary School  - The Chair reported that he had received a letter from 
the Headteacher of Rosebank Primary School drawing his attention to the following 
issues raised by the school: 
 

• The lack of consultation to expand schools 

• Possible school closures 

• Lack of school places at local schools 

• The cancellation of school appeals 
 
In responding Mrs Buckland said that this was the first occasion she had been made 
aware of the school’s concerns, had she been contacted previously she would have 
been able to provide a response.  
 
The Chair said he would provide a copy of the letter to Mrs Buckland in order that a 
suitable response could be provided 
 
38 DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING 
  
RESOLVED – To note that future meetings of the Forum will be scheduled as 
follows: 
 
April 2010 (Date to be finalised)  
 
Tuesday 22nd June 2010 
 
Tuesday 16th November 2010 
 
Meetings to be held in the Civic Hall, Leeds commencing at 4.00pm 
 
 

Page 6



REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OF EDUCATION LEEDS 

EXECUTIVE BOARD: 7th April 2010 

SUBJECT: Outcome of statutory consultation for changes to primary provision in 
Horsforth for September 2011 

  

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

1.0 PURPOSE OF THIS REPORT 

This report summarises the outcome of consultation to make changes to primary age 
provision in the Horsforth area for September 2011, and seeks permission to publish 
statutory notices. 

The consultation was conducted on proposals to:  
i) change the age ranges and admission limits of Horsforth Newlaithes Junior 

School and Horsforth Featherbank Infant School, to establish them both as all 
age primary schools from September 2011, to provide 30 extra reception class 
places (210 places in total), and 

ii) increase the size of West End Primary to provide 15 extra reception places per 
year (105 places in total) 

2.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

In December 2009 the Executive Board approved a formal consultation on plans to 
permanently expand seven primary schools for September 2011, including the 
expansion of West End Primary. In January 2010 the Executive Board also approved 
a formal consultation on proposals for changes to Featherbank Infant and 
Newlaithes Junior. These proposals all formed part of Education Leeds’ plans for 
ensuring sufficiency of provision across the city in the context of a growing pre-
school population. 

Under the Education and Inspections Act 2006, these changes constitute a 
prescribed alteration, and require a statutory process to confirm the change and 
make it permanent. Public consultation is the first stage of this process. The 
consultation for all three schools was managed together, to provide a holistic view of 
the proposals for Horsforth. 

3.0 RECOMMENDATIONS 

 The Executive Board is asked to: 

Agenda Item: 

Originator: George Turnbull  

Telephone: 2243239

Agenda Item 6

Page 7



i) consider the responses to the consultation for proposals in Horsforth 

ii) approve publication of statutory notices for the linked proposals to  
a. decrease the lower age range of Horsforth Newlaithes Junior School from 7-

11 to 5-11, with an admission limit of 60, and with an overall capacity of 420 
children and 

b. increase the age range of Horsforth Featherbank Infant School from 4-7 to 4-
11, and decrease the admissions number from 60 to 30, with an overall 
capacity of 210 children. 

iii) agree that proposals to permanently expand West End Primary in 2011 be 
withdrawn at the present time, although note that the need for places in the area will 
continue to be monitored and that the school will continue to be considered as an 
option for expansion on a temporary or permanent basis at a later stage. 

  

Page 8



REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OF EDUCATION LEEDS 

EXECUTIVE BOARD: 7th April 2010

SUBJECT: Outcome of statutory consultation for changes to primary provision in 
Horsforth for September 2011

Electoral Wards Affected:

Horsforth 

   
  Ward Members consulted 
  (referred to in report) 

Specific Implications For:

Equality & Diversity 

Community Cohesion 

Narrowing the Gap 

     

 Eligible for Call-in                       Not Eligible for Call-in   
        (Details contained in the Report)      

1.0 PURPOSE OF THIS REPORT 
  
1.1 This report summarises the outcome of consultation to make changes to primary age 

provision in the Horsforth area for September 2011, and seeks permission to publish 
statutory notices. 

 The consultation was conducted on proposals to  
i) change the age ranges and admissions limits of Horsforth Newlaithes Junior 

School and Horsforth Featherbank Infant School, to establish them both as all 
age primary schools from September 2011, to provide 30 extra reception class 
places (210 places in total), and 

ii) increase the size of West End to provide 15 extra reception places (105 places in 
total) 

  
2.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

2.1 In December 2009 the Executive Board approved a formal consultation on plans to 
permanently expand seven primary schools for September 2011, including the 
expansion of West End Primary. In January 2010 the Executive Board also approved 
a formal consultation on proposals for changes to Featherbank infant and Newlaithes 
Junior Schools.  

�

�

�

�

Agenda Item: 

Originator: George Turnbull 

Telephone: 2243239

�

Page 9



  
2.2 These proposals all form part of Education Leeds plans for ensuring sufficiency of 

provision across the city in the context of a growing pre-school population. As part of 
these plans, proposals for expansion at Iveson and Ireland Wood primaries in the 
Cookridge area have already been consulted on for September 2010. Publication of 
statutory notices for these expansions was approved by the Executive Board at its 
February meeting. These are relevant to the Horsforth proposals as a number of 
children living in Cookridge currently access places in Horsforth schools. 

  
2.3 Under the Education and Inspections Act 2006, these proposed changes constitute a 

prescribed alteration, and require a statutory process to confirm the change and 
make it permanent. Public consultation is the first stage of this process. The 
consultation for all three schools was managed together, to provide a holistic view of 
the proposals for the area. 

  
3.0 MAIN ISSUES 
  
3.1 Consultation. 

3.11 Demographic data describing the need for places in the area was contained in the 
consultation booklet. It identifies that up to 45 extra reception places are needed in 
Horsforth from 2011. This is based mainly on children already born in the area. 
There is a small allowance for children arising from new housing developments, 
however this amounts to only 2 children per year group in total. It is a popular 
residential area, and as such it is likely that further small amounts of demand will 
continue to be created from a range of similar small developments in the area for the 
foreseeable future. There are several larger housing developments being discussed 
in the area, most notably sites at Kirkstall Forge, Clariant/Riverside, and Woodside. 
The authority is in discussions with the developers about the requirements for 
contributions and land for new schools to meet the need for places that would be 
generated from these developments. This future need will be in addition to that which 
forms the basis of these proposals. 

  
3.12 Whilst pupil projections show a slight drop off in 2013/14, they reflect both the 

increasing births, and the historical patterns of where children have accessed places 
in the past. The birth rate in Horsforth itself has dropped slightly from a peak in 2007, 
although for the past 5 years it has remained consistently higher than in the 
preceding 5 years. In view of this, the Education Leeds wishes to ensure there is no 
over expansion in the area, which could serve to undermine the planned expansions 
in Cookridge, as well as other established neighbouring schools.  

  
3.13 A series of informal meetings with heads and chair of governors took place in 

October 2009. At these meetings the current local context, including the forthcoming 
2010 proposals and projected need were discussed. A range of options for 
expanding provision in the area were identified. Ward members were also briefed on 
the options available and these proposals. 

  
3.14 From the informal discussions the preferred options were identified by Education 

Leeds and put forward as the proposals. The purpose of the consultation was to gain 
the views of all stakeholders, and to inform a decision about whether to proceed with 
these proposals, a modified version of the proposals, or to re-consult on alternative 
proposals. Full details of the proposed options, an outline of the rationale, and some 
alternative options with a brief outline of their relative merit, were all identified in the 
consultation document. Meetings were held with ward members, staff, governors, 
school council, and the public. A list of consultees is provided in Appendix 1. The 
next sections provide an outline of the key aspects of the proposals and responses 

Page 10



to them.  
A comprehensive summary of the issues raised is contained in Appendix 2. 

3.2 Proposals to change Featherbank Infant School into a one form of entry 
primary school, and Newlaithes Junior School into a two forms of entry 
primary school. Provides 30 extra reception places, 210 places in total. 

  
3.21 The proposed changes would remove the need for transition between infant and 

junior schools, which can present a risk of disruption for pupils. It is recognised that 
the schools currently manage this transition well, and there was strong 
representation from parents to say they do not feel this is a significant issue. Some 
respondents viewed it as a positive since it offers a sense of progression and 
prepares for transition to high school. The proposal would reduce choice by 
removing an infant/junior option, however it would increase the choice between the 
number of primary schools in Horsforth.   

  
3.22 Through primary schools can offer greater career development opportunities for 

staff, and a broader range of activities and can find it easier therefore to attract and 
retain staff. 

3.23 As linked Infant and Junior schools there can be an imbalance between pupil 
numbers in different year groups which can pose some difficulties for the schools to 
manage. In particular, when new families arrive in the area with children in both age 
ranges, they can find that one school is full while the other has spaces. If this 
happens they may prefer to choose an alternative school where both children can 
have a place. Creating primary schools would allow the schools greater capacity to 
manage this variation in numbers across the full age range. This includes managing 
budgets and staffing levels. This proposal is intended to provide the most 
appropriate long term structure of sustainable provision to allow flexibility as 
numbers rise and fall in future. Maps in Appendix 3 show that that Horsforth children 
would continue to receive priority under the ‘nearest’ criteria within the admissions 
policy. 

3.3 Transition to all through primary schools. 

3.31 Key to this proposal is the transition plan which delivers the two primary schools. 
Education Leeds put forward an initial transition plan which would take seven years 
in total. 

3.32 It was acknowledged that there would be disruption to staffing levels at Featherbank, 
but the governing body at Newlaithes had indicated they would be willing to ring 
fence any new posts for Featherbank staff, and to offer posts on a secondment basis 
to allow staff to return once the school started to expand again. Featherbank would 
gain financial protection during this transition, through the small schools protection 
and safety net elements of the funding formula. This should ensure the continued 
delivery of a good quality education. 

3.33 Both schools initially indicated they were unable to support the proposals with this 
transition plan. Their concern focussed on the time taken to complete transition, 
vulnerability of Featherbank due to concern over the school shrinking to a one FE 
infant before growing to a primary school, and the effects on staff both individually 
and as a team. Parents expressed a range of views from supporting the proposal to 
wanting full choice to be introduced at the end of year two. Allowing children already 
in the system to at least express a preference between the two schools was key, and 
preferably to allow full choice. 

Page 11



3.34 In response to these concerns an alternative transition plan was developed. It is 
proposed that Featherbank become a primary from the outset, by raising its upper 
age limit, and still reducing its admission limit into reception. In this way, the smaller 
numbers entering could be offset by some children staying in the school beyond year 
two. Newlaithes would still begin to admit 60 into reception in 2011, and continue 
admitting into year 3 as well, for three years. This does mean that there is less 
certainty around where pupils choose to stay on roll but should be manageable.  

3.35 To provide maximum parental choice, and to continue to guarantee a place for 
anyone who expected to transfer to Newlaithes, an additional 60 places would 
continue to be offered in year 3 at Newlaithes. Every child would be entitled to 
remain on the roll of Featherbank as they moved from year 2 to year 3, or have the 
option of transferring to Newlaithes. Both schools have indicated they could support 
and would manage this option. 

  
3.36 An illustration of the transition options is presented in Appendix 4. 

3.4 Site concerns 

3.41 Under the proposal the Featherbank site would need to accommodate 210 children, 
rather than the current 180. The existing buildings could be adapted to meet this 
need. Featherbank do not have any grass play area, although the school have 
suggested they would access the local park. This may affect the relative popularity of 
the school in the area. Many parents raised concerns about the safety of smaller 
children on the site with a full primary age range, especially at play times, and 
expressed the view that the site was not suitable for the full primary age range. In 
most through primary schools reception children would not play in the same  space 
at the same time as year 6 children, and the school would manage the play times 
accordingly. There is a large area of hard standing not currently used by the school, 
which could help to provide separated play areas.  

  
3.42 Newlaithes would, under these proposals, increase its capacity from 240 to 420 

pupils. Significant new building would be required, and initial appraisal suggests this 
is feasible at the site, without significantly impacting on the grassed play area or on 
local residents. The building project would assess all of the infrastructure 
requirements of the increased numbers, including dining space. Detailed building 
plans will be developed if, following consultation, these proposals proceed, and they 
will be subject to the normal planning application process. Traffic volumes and road 
safety issues were raised as a significant concern for the school and community, and 
would need to be considered in any plans. This might include the use of drop off 
zones and walking buses. The Highways Agency will consider the traffic issues as 
part of any planning application. 

3.5 Staffing issues. 

3.51 Initially Featherbank staff indicated a preference for working in an infant setting, but 
the school has since been keen to demonstrate their willingness and ability to teach 
throughout the primary age range. Overall the number of teaching and non teaching 
staff posts will increase, but it is possible that some temporary staffing reductions 
may still be necessary during a transition.  

  
3.52 Newlaithes governing body have indicated their willingness to ring fence posts and 

offer them on a secondment basis during the transition period. Any process to decide 
how any staffing reductions would occur would have to be agreed with unions, in line 
with current HR policies and procedures. At this stage both permanent redeployment 
and secondment options could be explored. Education Leeds would work with both 

Page 12



schools and unions to avoid any redundancies as a result of the proposed changes 
to both schools. 

3.6 Alternatives to create additional capacity at Featherbank and Newlaithes. 

3.61 Increase the schools to 3FE infant and 3FE junior. This option had considerable 
parental support. The issues around choice and diversity are discussed in para 3.41 
above. It requires 270 children to be housed on the Featherbank site, which remains 
a concern. It does not reduce the risks associated with transition, or offer staff the 
enhanced staff development opportunities of a primary school. The schools remain 
more vulnerable to demographic changes, as there are a limited number of year 
groups to balance. Both governing bodies have indicated a preference for moving 
towards primary schools. 

3.62 Creation of a single 3FE through primary on two sites. Either through the 
creation of one school, or by a federation, this could offer a flexible use of both sites, 
retaining some of the feel of an infant and junior setting, with the management 
structure of a single school offering some of the advantages of a primary. Initially 
offered by Newlaithes as an alternative to remove the concerns around the transition 
arrangements, after further discussion neither school supports this plan. It would also 
present significant challenges in managing two sites so far apart. 

3.63 Leave Featherbank unchanged, and increase Newlaithes to one FE infant and 
three FE juniors. This would minimise the impact on the Featherbank site, but it is 
not clear an appropriate buildings solution could be found. Little interest was 
generated during consultation for this option, which is more complicated than other 
viable options.  

3.7 Proposed expansion of West End Primary to one and a half forms of entry, i.e. 
an admission limit of 45, to provide 15 extra reception places (105 places in 
total) 

  
3.71 There was strong opposition to the potential introduction of mixed age classes from 

parents. The school and governing body acknowledged in the consultation that there 
need be no adverse impact on educational or social outcomes for children arising 
from mixed age classes, a view held very strongly by Education Leeds. Nonetheless 
the school reflected the views of parents, and felt strongly that they wished to avoid 
this, as it created unnecessary concern amongst parents, and demands 
considerable extra time in managing those concerns, and also in planning the year 
groups. 

  
3.72 Some parents opposed any expansion at all. They felt this would alter the ethos of 

the school. The school themselves felt they could manage an expansion, but 
acknowledged the concerns of parents. 

  
3.73 Many parents, and the school, argued that if expansion was required it should be to 

60 places per year, rather than 45, to avoid mixed age classes. Education Leeds 
believes permanent expansion to 60 at this point in time would create too much 
capacity in the area with the potential to impact upon the sustainability of other 
schools at this time. There is also concern about the feasibility of a building scheme 
to accommodate this solution.  

3.74 Some concerns were raised about the impact of class sizes and of teacher pupil 
ratios if the school went to one and a half forms of entry. The infant class size 
legislation would still apply, requiring a maximum class size of 30 throughout key 
stage 1. Funding for schools is provided on a per pupil basis, meaning staff to pupil 

Page 13



ratios do not need to change as a result of expansion. 
  
3.75 Local residents, parents and staff all expressed concerns about the impact of any 

expansion on the surrounding roads, which they felt were already unable to cope 
with the volume of traffic. This is recognised as an issue and would have to be 
addressed in any planning application. Options include the use of drop off zones and 
walking bus schemes. 

3.76 The possibility of temporary expansion was raised by the governing body of the 
school, for cohorts of 30. An expansion of this type could be agreed for two years 
without any statutory process. It is not without merit, and has been given serious 
consideration. It would allow time to see what happens to the birth rate, and ensure 
the long term sustainability of any expansion. However, it could also introduce 
surplus capacity in the short term, and would complicate the aspiration for an 
integrated building solution. 

3.8 A new additional primary school. 

3.81 The possibility of establishing a new school rather than changing existing schools 
was identified. The consultation identified some support for this option. Under current 
legislation it is not possible for the authority to simply open a new community primary 
school. There is a requirement to hold a competition to find parties interested in 
running a school. This might include parental groups, faith groups, other schools and 
school trusts, private voluntary or independent (PVI) sector group, and educational 
charities. The timeframe for establishing such a school is likely to be at least four 
years, assuming the funding and land can be found for a new school. As no land or 
funding has been identified this option was ruled out for 2011, but will be considered 
as part of the longer term option appraisal.

  
3.9 Changes at other local primary schools. 

3.91 All the schools in the area were originally considered for expansion, but most were 
considered hard to expand. Broadgate Primary used to be a larger school, however 
it now houses the Children’s Centre on its grounds. The centre is a valued resource, 
and reclaiming that property would require the repayment of significant grants, as 
well as requiring a solution to re-house the Children’s Centre. The site itself has 
narrow access and significant level variations which would add cost and complexity 
to any project. St Mary’s is a Catholic VA school, and the diocese do not require 
additional Catholic places. St Margaret’s CE and Westbrook Lane are on very 
constrained sites. Expansion on the High School site to accommodate some primary 
provision has potential logistical difficulties. These options may need to be 
reappraised if demand continues to grow, but they do not at present offer a logistical 
or good value solution. 

3.92 There were no other suggestions or views raised during the consultation which 
would indicate that the proposals were not deliverable options for 2011. This report 
therefore now focuses on the proposals, and the remaining potentially deliverable 
alternatives. 

4.0 CONCLUSIONS 

4.1 After careful consideration of the issues raised during consultation Education Leeds 
believes the proposals to establish primary provision at Featherbank and at 
Newlaithes should progress. Whilst these proposals would remove separate infant 
and junior provision in the Horsforth area, primary schools enhance the consistency 
of the learning environment with risks at transition reduced, and offer greater staff 

Page 14



development opportunities.  Primary schools offer greater sustainability and flexibility 
in responding to fluctuations in either parental demand or population change. The 
governing bodies and staff of both schools have indicated their support for these 
proposals in principle and will manage the change to primary status with the support 
of Education Leeds. 

4.2 Education Leeds acknowledges the schools’ intent to manage the uncertainty 
created by the emerging transition plan, and will therefore promote the transition plan 
which establishes a Year 3 cohort at Featherbank in 2011and retains an admission 
limit of 60 places in year 3 at Newlaithes. This provides maximum parental choice, 
and ensures all those who joined Featherbank have the opportunity to stay, or to 
transfer as they had expected. Numbers at Featherbank might still decrease in the 
short term but to a lesser extent and potentially not at all. This creates the potential 
for minimum disruption to the existing staffing teams at both schools. Both schools 
have indicated support for this transition plan. Both schools would become primaries 
within four years. 

4.3 Education Leeds believes that these revised proposals present no increased 
challenges in the use of both existing school sites. Any expansion highlights 
Featherbank’s lack of green space. Consideration should be given to the use of 
existing local green space. Education Leeds notes the request from Featherbank 
governing body to establish a nursery as a condition of its support for the proposal. 
The establishment of pre-school provision is the responsibility of the Early Years 
service to whom the request has been passed. 

4.4 In response to the issues raised during the consultations, Education Leeds  
recommends the withdrawal of the proposal to permanently enlarge West End 
Primary in 2011, although expansion remains feasible and may yet be required from 
2012 or subsequently. It will work flexibly with the school during the admissions 
round to accept temporary increases into the school if necessary. An expansion 
proposal can be considered in future as new data on birth rates and demand 
emerge, potentially linked to the larger housing developments being considered 
around Horsforth. 

5.0 LEGAL AND RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
  
5.1 The capital works required to deliver these proposals will be funded through the 

Education capital programme. Although detailed designs and costs have not been 
developed at this stage, high level estimates for the two schemes total £800k. 
Further reports, seeking financial approval for the fully costed specific schemes will 
be brought to the Executive Board in due course.

  
5.2 Small school protection funding and safety net funding would both be available to 

Featherbank in the unlikely event of a significant short term drop in pupil numbers.  
  
5.3 Both schools have asked if additional or rephased funding can be found to recognise 

the set up costs for a new key stage. Education Leeds is exploring this possibility.  
  
6.0 RECOMMENDATIONS 
  
6.1 The Executive Board is asked to: 
  
 i)  consider the responses to the consultation on proposals for Horsforth; 

ii) approve publication of statutory notices for the linked proposals to:  

Page 15



a) decrease the lower age range of Horsforth Newlaithes Junior School from 7-
11 to 5-11, with an admission limit of 60, and with an overall capacity of 420 
children and 
b) increase the age range of Horsforth Featherbank Infant School from 4-7 to 
4-11, and decrease the admissions number from 60 to 30, with an overall 
capacity of 210 children. 

iii) agree that proposals to permanently expand West End Primary in 2011 be 
withdrawn at the present time, although note that the need for places in the area will 
continue to be monitored and that the school will continue to be considered as an 
option for expansion on a temporary or permanent basis at a later stage. 

  
6.0 BACKGROUND REPORTS 
  
 22 July 2009 Proposed increases in Admissions Limits for September 2010 
 17 June 2009 Expanding Primary Place Provision 
 17 June 2009 Proposal to add specialist community provision at Whitkirk Primary 

School for pupils with complex physical difficulties and medical needs. 
 October 2009 Letter from Office of Schools Adjudicator 
 October 2009 Proposal for statutory consultation for the expansion of primary 

provision for September 2010 
 December 2009 Proposal for statutory consultation for the expansion of primary 

provision for September 2011 
 January 2010 Proposal for statutory consultation for changes to primary provision at 

Horsforth Newlaithes Junior School and Featherbank Infant School in 2011 
 February 2010 Outcome of consultation for the expansion of primary provision for 

September 2010 

Page 16



Appendix 1 Full list of consultees and consultation methods. 

Consultee Consultation method

Parents/carers of children at directly affected 

schools

individual letters, documents, and spare response 

sheets

Parents/ carers of children at other primary 

schools

letters advising documents and spare response 

sheets at schools and on line

Parents/ carers of children preferencing Horsforth 

schools for Sept 2010

individual letters, documents, and spare response 

sheets (sent 2 weeks into consultation)

All Schools in areas posters advertising meetings and spare documents.

LCC Councillors documents

MPs electronic link to document

Education Leeds board documents

Education Leeds Heads of Service electronic link to document

LCC Leadership Team electronic link to document

Early Years Managers electronic link to document

Locality Enablers electronic link to document

Area Managers electronic link to document

Leeds Racial Equality Council electronic link to document

Leeds Chamber of Commerce electronic link to document

Trades Unions electronic link to document

Catholic diocese electronic link to document

C of E diocese electronic link to document

Children's Centres documents, posters and spare response sheets

Private Early Years Providers documents, posters and spare response sheets

All libraries in Leeds documents and posters

Family of schools meeting

School Councils at Newlaithes and West End meeting

Public meeting

Area Management Committees meeting

Staff & Governing bodies at all schools meeting

Page 17



Appendix 2 - Analysis of the issues raised during consultation. 

There were a total of 201 written responses received. Of these, 188 either directly 
expressed whether they agreed or disagreed, or it was possible to imply this. Eight 
responses did not express a position, but they did raise concerns to address if the 
proposals proceed. They include a union (NUT), the Education Leeds HR team, the head 
teacher at Featherbank, the current local MP and the labour prospective parliamentary 
candidate. There were 4 were duplicates, and 1 form has been misplaced – the 
respondent has been advised and asked to resubmit their views. One was a petition 
against the West End proposal signed by 101 parents/carers and staff, with no alternative 
suggested. Many respondents expressed views on the proposals for all three schools, 
some just expressed views on part of the proposals.

Respondents were asked if they agreed with statements of support for the proposals, and 
given options SA strongly agree; A agree; N neither agree nor disagree; D disagree; SD
strongly disagree; DK don’t know.  

Of those who opposed the proposal for primary schools, approximately half supported 3FE 
infant and juniors instead. One opposed the proposal but felt 3FE infant and juniors was 
worse, while four felt it could only be a temporary measure. Four were able to support both 
the proposal and larger infant/juniors. Some opposed any expansion, preferring a new 
school, and some felt another school in Horsforth should be expanded instead.  

Of the transition arrangements that could support the transition into primary schools, 16 
expressed some support for alternative 2. Of these five felt the original proposal was also 
acceptable, and three disagreed with the proposal but if it went ahead supported either the 
original or alternative 2. One respondent supported alternative 1.   

Of those who opposed the West End proposal, just over a third stated that they supported 
an expansion by a whole form of entry instead, either on a temporary or permanent basis. 
Many opposed any expansion, again preferring that either a new school or another 
existing school be considered as the solution. 

Three respondents questioned the mix of numbers, suggesting a combination of 2FE at 
West End and an additional 0.5FE at Newlaithes/Featherbank could provide a better 
solution. Two suggested a solution at Featherbank and Newlaithes either through a single 
school or a federation. 

The public meetings were very well attended, with approximately 450 people in total 
(although many attended more than one meeting). Through the meetings strong opposition 
to the removal of infant and junior schools, and to mixed age classes at West End was 
heard. There was also considerable opposition to any expansion at Newlaithes and West 
End due to site and access concerns. Transition arrangements which restricted parental 
choice were also opposed. The minutes of the meetings are provided on the Education 
Leeds website at www.educationleeds.co.uk/schoolorganisation 

Full details of the issues raised, either in the meetings or in writing, follows. 

SA A N D SD DK TOTAL

Support Primaries Proposal 11 33 17 19 69 8 157

Support proposed transition plan 10 18 17 16 51 9 121

Support alternative for FB /NL 21 39 21 10 15 10 116
Support West End 1.5FE 6 4 15 8 71 3 107

Page 18



1 

1.1 

1.2 

1.3 

1.4 

1.5 

Concerns about the demographics which underpin the proposals; what are 
the data sources, how certain are they, what role does new housing play in 
them,  

The birth data is received from the area health authority, and grouped into small 
postcode areas. This data is extremely robust. There are then a number of steps 
taken to turn this birth data into projections, which by definition will mean the two 
are not identical. Education Leeds tracks the relationship between the numbers of 
births in all areas, and the numbers entering individual schools from each area four-
five years later, by using information from the school census. Historically this has 
included movement into Horsforth schools from outside the area, including from 
Cookridge. This relationship is mapped onto the new birth data to provide a 
projection of pupils numbers.   

We then allow for other factors which influence the projections, most notably any 
new housing developments that have gained detailed planning permission, and are 
therefore reasonably likely to proceed in the near future. We start by considering 
which school they are nearest to, as this is important in determining where children 
will have priority to access a school place under the current admissions policy. The 
number of family dwellings in the scheme, and apply a ratio of 25 primary aged 
children per 100 family houses (ie 3 per year group). This data is less robust, as 
many factors can vary e.g. how quickly those houses are built, and then sold, what 
age any children are when they move in, and accessibility of the nearest school and 
which schools they might preference will all influence the accuracy of the 
projections, however the ration of 25:100 has proven very reliable in the long term. 
In this instance, of the 1785 places in total in Horsforth in 2011, 2 per year group, 
arise from new housing (this is a total of 14 children who arrive in 2010/11 then 
remain in the projections as they move through the school).  

Projections are then considered on a planning area basis and then analysed. This 
interpretation of projections is vital in development of proposals. The projections at 
an area level are robust, however, they can be more slightly more volatile at an 
individual school level. This is because issues which affect the distribution of 
children can vary, often unpredictably and quickly. The influence and accuracy of 
new housing forecasts is also taken into account. 

Including projections for housing schemes which have not yet obtained full planning 
permission is not prudent, as it can be many years before they are occupied. These 
developments are however considered in a less formulaic manner. Building too 
early can result in a waste of resource, building unsustainable half empty schools.  

A significant number of respondents felt the data suggested this was a temporary 
issue, and therefore required a different approach. Although the birth rate in 
Horsforth itself has dropped off slightly from a peak in 2007, it has for the last five 
years remained consistently higher than the previous five years. ONS data 
suggests long term continued increase in the Leeds birth rate until at least 2018. 

2 

2.1 

Concerns about the timeliness of proposals, in particular with regard to 
children who had applied for places in 2010 and whose decisions may have 
been different if the proposals proceed. 

Many expressed the view that since these children have been known about for 
several years, proposals should have been brought forward earlier. They felt that 
Education Leeds had failed to plan properly. It is important to ensure the 

Page 19



2.2 

sustainability of any changes, and to establish that the numbers are part of a longer 
term trend.  Education Leeds has been evaluating options for some time, including 
informal consultation with the schools, and are bringing forward proposals now for 
2011 (children born 2007/8). Permanent solutions have been preferred, as they 
offer clarity and the ability to plan, however temporary solutions will play a role. The 
comment of one respondent that planning in stages is more disruptive is noted, and 
is partly why planning for permanent sustainable solutions is preferred. 

Some parents of children due to enter school in 2010 felt they would have made 
different decisions if the proposals proceed, and they should therefore have been 
informed before submitting a preference form. It is inevitable that whenever a 
proposal is brought forward, some will feel it affects the decisions they have made. 
At this stage they are only proposals, and may not go forward. It would be equally 
wrong to influence preferences on the basis of a proposal that did not proceed. 
Education Leeds seeks to minimise any distress and uncertainty by bringing 
forward sound proposals which it believes have strong merit, at a time which 
maximise clarity for families and schools, and which allows all stakeholders to 
participate in the decision making process.   

3 

3.3 

3.4 

3.5 

What is the authority doing to address the need arising from major new 
housing developments such as Kirkstall Forge, Clariant/Riverside, and 
Woodside Quarry?  

Developer contributions for education are sought for any development of over 50 
houses, where a need for additional places can be evidenced. This can be in the 
form of land, money or both. Developers are treated equitably in that monetary 
contributions are calculated on a per pupil amount, based on DCSF guidance.  

A development of around 900 houses would generate enough children to fill a one 
form entry school. In these examples, Kirkstall Forge is likely to need a new school. 
The other developments would generate significant numbers of children, but not 
sufficient to sustain a school on their own. The challenge is to find a holistic solution 
for the area, taking into account all the developments and overall population 
distribution. Education Leeds is in discussion with colleagues in planning to find 
suitable sites for possible new school(s), and with the developers about the options 
available there. 
  
These developments have been in discussion for a number of years, highlighting 
the need for careful consideration of when the children are likely to appear when 
planning solutions for the area. One respondent noted that it may have been better 
to time the consultation to take account of the separate consultation on the new 
housing. This might have compromised the ability to have a decision in time for 
parents expressing a preference for the year in which the proposals would come 
into effect. 

4 

4.1 

4.2 

Views that a new school would be a better solution for the long term. 

This view was generally based on the desire to avoid disruption to existing schools, 
and also on the influence of new housing. Not withstanding the pressure from new 
housing described above, one solution to the existing demographic issue could be a 
new school. However, this would be a long term solution, and would not be in place 
for 2011 when the projections show places are needed.  

To establish a school, the authority would first have to run a competition to 
determine who would run it, and then design and build it. It may be possible to open 
a new local authority school if no other (strong) applications were received, but this 

Page 20



4.3 

would not lessen the timescale for this process significantly, which is likely to be 
around four years. It would then need to establish itself, which could take a further 
seven years. Given that we can only predict pupil numbers with any certainty for 
children already born, ie a four year horizon, this always carries a high degree of 
risk. Data already shows some slight drop off in the birth rate which may suggest 
this is not sustainable in the long term without some of the larger new housing 
developments. The consultation has not generated any expressions of interest in 
running a new school. 

No land or funding has been identified for a new school, but this will continue to be 
considered as part of a longer term solution. Short term solutions would still need to 
be found. 

5 

5.1 

5.2 

5.4 

5.5 

Concerns that the consultation did not provide enough detail around the 
proposals (or any alternatives explored) to make informed representations. 

The consultation needs to clearly describe what the proposal is, so it is clear what 
people need to respond to. This is the driving principle in creating the consultation 
document. 

When presented with a range of options there is often an inconclusive result. This 
can prolong the process unnecessarily, creating more uncertainty and worry for all 
stakeholders, and potentially undermining otherwise popular and successful 
schools. It is also inappropriate to spend significant amounts of public money on 
detailed plans which may never progress. Education Leeds uses the professional 
judgement of its officers to determine if there is sufficient merit and support for a 
proposal to bring it forward for consultation. If the consultation identifies an 
alternative possible solution, and there is sufficient interest, it may be further 
explored as a result. 

Several parents felt that they needed more information to effectively challenge the 
proposals, and one even felt they should be offered support to draft a counter 
proposal. It is not the responsibility of respondents to fully assess the viability of 
their alternatives, but to put forward their concerns and any ideas which they feel 
should be explored further. In considering the responses, the decision maker will 
determine whether there is a need to explore these issues further.   

See also the paragraph on specific concerns about the consultation document 
below. 

6 

6.1 

6.2 

6.3 

Specific concerns about the quality of the consultation documents. 

Whilst a few commented that the documents offered a clear and concise view, 
many felt more detail was needed. There were some specific suggestions of where 
more detail was required.  

Detailed building plans to support the proposals would be developed in good time, 
and in partnership with the schools concerned, should they proceed to the next 
stage. Building plans are subject to the normal planning permission process, and 
would mean that concerns about traffic, parking and site safety would need to be 
addressed at that stage.  

Concerns about the implications of an intake of 45 are harder to address, as they 
would mainly be the responsibility of the school and could be managed in a variety 
of ways. A number of other consultations have been conducted which failed to raise 
this as a significant concern, however it was clear from the response here that there 

Page 21



6.4 

6.5 

6.6 

6.7 

6.8 

were some significant misconceptions regarding class sizes, the need for extra 
staff, and pupil/staff ratios. Based on this experience Education Leeds 
acknowledges that it could improve further consultation documents by providing 
more information on this, and will consider including references and/or links to 
research on the educational and social impact of mixed age classes as suggested.  

A number of respondents felt that more detail should have been provided on the 
alternatives of 2FE expansion, permanent or temporary, at West End, however 
these alternatives were drawn out very effectively during consultation. It was not felt 
appropriate to show counter proposals from the schools in the document as this 
could confuse the ownership of the proposal, however these were fully discussed at 
the meetings. 

One respondent queried why standard costs were not available for such schemes. 
The estimated costs in the main body of this report are provided on that basis, and 
do not reflect any detailed feasibility work which may alter the costs. The details are 
not critical to the principles being consulted on. 

A small number claimed that it was ‘misleading, inaccurate and biased’. The 
specific concerns seem to be it is not clear whose preferred option the proposal is, 
who has been consulted to form this view, and that job losses are not addressed. 
Education Leeds make it clear they are the proposer throughout the document. The 
key issues which were considered are outlined in the document. It was not possible 
to describe in the document the situation in detail with regards to jobs, as this would 
be determined by the schools, but the document does make clear that overall there 
would be an increase in posts, and that during transition, under the original 
proposal, Featherbank would shrink before it grew. Newlaithes have since offered 
to ring fence jobs for Featherbank staff and offer secondments, and this has been 
conveyed in public and to the staff during the consultation meetings. Featherbank 
School suggested the document was ‘unclear and ambiguous’, though did not 
specify how. 

Two respondents noted that they felt the additional information provided by 
Featherbank School had added little, and only served to confuse matters. 

West End governing body and the public felt there was an imbalance in the text 
devoted to the changes at each school. The document does provide more 
information about its specific proposal than was the case for other expansion 
proposals, and there has been no similar complaint from those. On reflection the 
space needed to describe the technical detail of the changes at Featherbank and 
Newlaithes may have created this impression. It was not intended to trivialise the 
changes at West End as the governing body felt. 

7 

7.1 

Concerns that the consultation was inadequate. 

One issue raised was that pupils entering in 2010 or after were not originally 
contacted. Some interpreted this as evidence they had been deliberately deceived. 
This oversight was addressed two weeks into the consultation leaving a further six 
weeks to respond. At least twelve parents of preschool children responded. 
Additional drop in meetings at the library and Newlaithes school were arranged. 
Engagement with the pre school community is recognised as vital, and all early 
years providers in the locality were contacted with details of the consultation. Many 
pre school children do not use these providers, and are widely dispersed in homes 
or with childminders. Education Leeds seeks to find effective and good value 
methods for contacting these families, and has advertised the meetings at doctors' 
surgeries, libraries, Children’s Centres and through press releases to support this. 

Page 22



7.2 

7.3 

7.4 

7.5 

7.6 

We will be seeking views from those agencies and others to improve this 
engagement. 

Many felt the consultation period was too short, not advertised sufficiently in 
advance, and that meetings were too few and too early in the consultation period, 
all of which combined to prevent people from attending. The consultation ran for 
eight weeks, which is two weeks longer than is standard practice and exceeds the 
minimum stated in guidance from the DCSF. The meetings are held towards the 
beginning of the consultation period to allow maximum opportunity for the public to 
reflect on the discussions, and consider their responses, and to minimise the period 
of uncertainty and (often inaccurate) rumour. It is standard practice to offer one 
public meeting at each school, however additional meetings were arranged by 
Education Leeds and by Featherbank School, ensuring everyone had the 
opportunity to ask questions about the alternative transition arrangements which 
emerged during consultation. Education Leeds acknowledges the concerns, and 
will provide earlier notification whenever possible. 

Some felt an additional preliminary phase would allow more open discussion of the 
alternatives, and allow the community as a whole to understand the issues, develop 
and influence the proposals. Education Leeds did engage with schools in the 
autumn term of 2009 to discuss options for the area collaboratively. Earlier 
engagement with the wider community can often add undue worry and uncertainty 
to families and fail to generate a clear consensus. Education Leeds will consider 
this in future, but believes the critical issue is to consult with schools and early 
years providers in the initial stages, and to ensure a robust and thorough 
consultation period to ensure all views are heard. 

Some challenged whether more effort should be made to contact local residents 
and parents at other schools. Education Leeds notes this concern, and needs to 
ensure the cost of additional measures is justified by the responses and 
engagement it generates. Over 60 respondents noted resident as a key connection 
the school, and clearly many parents are also local residents. Anyone is welcome to 
attend any of the public meetings, in whatever capacity, and irrespective of which 
school they currently attend. An offer of an additional central meeting at a neutral 
venue to did not generate any interest from the other schools. 

One respondent suggested the use of PowerPoint presentations, and a few 
suggested the meetings were too emotional, too unstructured and too long. Formal 
presentations have been used in the past, however it can often add little to what is 
in the document, and feel like it restricts people’s ability to focus on their concerns. 
Consultation is inevitably emotional, and it is right and proper that parents have an 
opportunity to express that. Education Leeds tries to allow all who attend to express 
a view, and continues to review the details of how to approach each meeting on a 
case by case basis. 

A full list of consultees is in Appendix 1. 

8 

8.1 

Concerns that the building solutions would not address the holistic 
requirements of the school, and that schemes would be ‘done on the cheap’. 

Modular buildings offer excellent value, excellent quality, a long life span, can be 
constructed off site minimising disruption on site, and offer greater flexibility in the 
long term should numbers fall again. They should minimise the possibility of 
needing any temporary class rooms during construction. Education Leeds fully 
recognises that expanding a school is not just about adding classrooms, but needs 
to offer a scheme which allows the school to operate successfully. The building 

Page 23



8.2 

8.3 

projects would assess all of the infrastructure requirements of the increased 
numbers, however it may not be possible to meet all the aspirations of the schools. 
Detailed building plans will be developed in full consultation with the schools if, 
following consultation, these proposals proceed, and they will be subject to the 
normal planning application process. Some internal remodelling may assist in 
providing a joined up scheme, and the concerns of West End that this should not 
imply compromise are noted. Particular concerns about the need to address dining 
space at Newlaithes, and for a joined on building scheme at West End are noted. 
The concern that the timescale for delivery will prohibit a good design are not 
shared by Education Leeds. 

One respondent noted their child required wheelchair access and portacabins 
would not be accessible. The proposed modular buildings would be fully accessible.

One noted Education Leeds had provided reassurances that the Out Of School 
Club would not be left without a suitable space if the proposals went ahead. One 
suggested this club would not be able to cope with the increased numbers. 
  

9 

9.1 

Concerns about safety on site and near to the site during construction. 

Education Leeds has extensive experience of managing building projects at schools 
and will ensure all works are carried out safely and with minimal possible disruption 
to schools and their neighbourhoods. Use of modular construction will help 
minimise the impact.  

  
10 

10.1 

10.2 

10.3 

10.4 

10.5 

Concerns about the suitability of the various sites for the proposed changes. 

A lot of respondents were concerned about the impact on green space and play 
areas at all of the schools. Schemes will aim to minimise any reduction of playing 
fields, an issue which need to be addressed in any planning application. Traffic 
volumes and road safety issues were also of concern for all the schools, and are 
addressed separately. 

Some respondents felt the West End site was too small for any expansion.  

Under the proposals the Featherbank site would need to accommodate 210 
children, rather than the current 180. The existing buildings could be adapted to 
meet this need. Featherbank do not have any grass play area, although the school 
have suggested they would access the local park. Some respondents expressed 
concern at this. Consideration could also be given to use of other local green 
space, and one respondent suggested shared use of Newlaithes grounds, and one 
the use of Astroturf. Many felt this would adversely affect the popularity of the 
school in the area.  

Many parents raised concerns about the safety of smaller children on the site with a 
full primary age range, especially at play times, and expressed the view that the site 
was not suitable for the full primary age range. They felt a full school assembly 
would be intimidating for younger children. In most through primary schools 
reception children would not play in the same space at the same time as year 6 
children, and the school would manage the play times accordingly. There is a large 
area of hard standing not currently used by the school, which could help to provide 
separated play areas. Education Leeds is also exploring the possibility of use of the 
buildings currently used by Park Lane on the Featherbank site, which several 
respondents and the school felt could offer a positive solution. Many respondents 
felt the site was more suitable for 270 infants than 210 primary aged children. 
Newlaithes would, under these proposals, increase its capacity from 240 to 420 

Page 24



10.6 

10.7 

pupils. Significant new building would be required, and an initial appraisal suggests 
this is feasible at the site, without significantly impacting on the grassed play area or 
on local residents. There is no intention to use land outside the current school 
boundary as questioned by one respondent. 

Parents making preferences for year three places in 2011 expressed concern they 
would need details of the plans to make their preferences. Plans may not be 
finalised by then, but more information should be available by then. 

One respondent felt that the Newlaithes site was unsuitable for small children for 
unspecified reasons. 

11 

11.1 

11.2 

11.3 

Views that expanding existing schools should be explored in more detail to 
ascertain whether they are a better solution. 

There was particular challenge from many as to why Broadgate Lane could not be 
expanded, as this used to be a two form entry school, and one also suggested 
Westbrook Lane. All the other schools in the area were considered for expansion, 
but most were considered hard to expand. Broadgate Primary used to be a larger 
school, however it now houses the Children’s Centre on its grounds. The centre is a 
valued resource, and reclaiming that property would require the repayment of 
significant grants, as well as requiring a solution to re-house the Children’s Centre. 
The site itself has narrow access and significant level variations which would add 
cost and complexity to any project. St Mary’s is a Catholic VA school, and the 
diocese do not require additional Catholic places. St Margaret’s CE and Westbrook 
Lane are on very constrained sites. Expansion on the High School site to 
accommodate some primary provision has potential logistical difficulties. These 
options may need to be reappraised if demand continues to grow, but they do not at 
present offer a logistical or good value solution. 

It was suggested that the move to downsize Broadgate Lane was premature, and it 
should have been maintained as a two form entry school. This would however have 
presented a serious challenge to its viability during those years, and delayed the 
creation of a valuable resource in the Children’s Centre. One respondent suggested 
this indicated an intention to sell the Broadgate Lane site, which is not the case. 

One respondent asked if these schools were brought forward for proposals 
because they had the most land or were easiest, and another suggested it was also 
because they were cheapest. The practical and logistical constraints of sites was a 
key consideration, but tended to rule sites ‘out’ rather than ‘in’, and the proposals 
balanced all the duties of the local authority. One challenged a seeming 
contradiction that other schools could be ruled out now, but considered later. This 
reflects the difficulty of balancing all the issues, and the possibility that the decision 
maker may feel that the challenges at other schools may be less of an issue overall 
than the concerns raised through consultation, or that they represent a good 
investment compared to other options if demand continues to grow. 

12 

12.1 

Concerns about how changes to the status of Newlaithes and Featherbank 
would effect priority for places, most significantly that it would significantly 
open up access to Horsforth schools for non Horsforth residents. 

Many expressed the view that expansion should be for local children and not open 
up access to children in neighbouring areas. Maps provided in Appendix 3 
demonstrate that the proposals would not have this effect. The current admissions 
policy provides priority to children based on their nearest school and straight line 
distance to a school. Other schools in Rodley and Bramley would remain the 

Page 25



12.2 

closest for residents on the far side of the canal. The boundary moves from the river 
to the canal.  

One respondent felt that they don’t like the idea of transition, but as they live 
nearest to Featherbank, they would in effect have an option ‘removed’. It is not 
clear exactly what this means. One commented that schools needed clear advice 
on their admissions policy. As community schools this the Education Leeds 
admissions policy would apply.   

13 

13.1 

13.2 

Concerns about traffic and access to the sites, particularly at Newlaithes and 
West End, when and how this is considered in the process and whether the 
local areas can sustain any increase. 

Many challenged why specific proposals were not included to address serious 
issues with traffic, which it was felt already presented serious safety concerns to 
residents and pupils. Many felt these were a prerequisite to any support for any 
changes. Several felt these concerns ruled out any expansion. This is recognised 
as an issue and would have to be addressed in any planning application, if there is 
support for the proposals in principle. The decision maker is able to make a 
successful planning application a condition of approval of any expansion proposal. 
Options to mitigate this include the use of drop off zones and walking bus schemes. 
The car parks at Hall Lane seem to offer a particular opportunity for this for West 
End. Although several respondents noted that schemes had been tried 
unsuccessfully in the past, they often felt they should be promoted again.  

Some respondents noted that creating through primaries could mitigate some of the 
traffic issues created by parents with siblings travelling between Featherbank and 
Newlaithes. One suggested introducing a distance criterion to the admissions policy 
would reduce traffic (this is already in the policy). Some questioned the possibility of 
school buses, and this is noted.  

14 

14.1 

14.2 

14.3 

14.4 

Concerns that the proposals were not supported by the schools and 
governing bodies. 

West End have made clear their opposition to mixed age classes. They have also 
made clear their desire for a joined up building solution. They have offered 
temporary or permanent expansion to 2FE as alternative solutions.  

Featherbank have indicated their support for becoming a 1FE primary school, with 
three caveats: securing funding for the establishment of a Key Stage; the addition 
of a nursery; and the alternative transition option 2, which allows for full parental 
choice at the end of year two. 

Newlaithes have indicated their support for becoming a 2FE primary school. They 
noted how it would help in managing their pupil numbers and budgets, allow them 
to be recognised fully for the ‘value added’ education they provide, and provide 
greater control of their own destiny. They have noted concerns that additional 
funding for a Key Stage is vital, that the building solution will need to address the 
overall needs of the school and these details have not yet been agreed, that 
parental choice is key to any transition plan, that site access issues be considered, 
and that local residents are fully consulted as the proposals develop.  

The various head teachers and/or chairs of governors have spoken at the public 
meetings. They have provided a considered and balanced view on the issues 
raised, sometimes reflecting on how they were themselves using the consultation 
process to inform their own views, which have inevitably changed over time as the 

Page 26



debate unfolded. Some have at times suggested that more than one outcome could 
be satisfactory. This is entirely reasonable, and demonstrates their professional 
commitment to engaging in the process, and to ensuring a good outcome. The 
detail of the concerns raised are addressed elsewhere in this document. 

15 

15.1 

Concerns that any expansion would affect the ethos and feel of what are 
currently three small schools, including particular concerns that 400+ pupils 
was simply too many. 

The feel and ethos of the school are created and managed by the governing 
bodies, and need not necessarily change with expansion. The schools concerned 
support this principle and do not feel that it would be compromised by expansion. A 
two form entry primary school is a common model throughout Leeds and many are 
excellent schools. It can often allow access to a broader range of staff and 
activities, offering many positive benefits.  

16 

16.1 

16.2 

16.3 

16.4 

Concerns about the impact of mixed age classes arising from a 45 intake, 
including discussion around expansion by a whole form instead. 

A range of concerns were expressed by most of the respondents. There was a 
misconception amongst a few parents that this would result in larger class sizes 
and/or fewer teachers per pupil. This is not the case. School finances continue to 
be based around class sizes of 30, and the infant class size legislation would still 
apply. The difference is in how schools organise the pupils into classes of 30. For 
example, two year groups of 45 children would make a total of 90 children, which 
would then be organised into 3 classes of 30. It is up to the school to determine 
how they would split the children, and how they would then progress through the 
school. Most common would be one class each from the lower and higher year 
group, and one which contained a mixture of the two. Some felt that it would directly 
disrupt existing year groups, however this is highly unlikely, and it would be the 
cohorts of 45 entering from 2011 onwards who would be directly impacted. 

Specific concerns included the impact on educational outcomes and on the social 
development and friendships if these groupings change as year groups progress. 
People were also concerned about a potential age gap of two years between 
youngest an oldest in a class, and the impact on a child’s self esteem of groupings 
based on ability. These issues concerned many respondents, and they noted an 
acknowledgement by an Education Leeds officer that mixed age classes were ‘less 
than ideal’ or ‘a compromise’, and as such felt the proposals were not fully justified. 
Several also felt the attitude of Education Leeds was condescending and arrogant, 
which was not intended.  

Research on this subject shows mixed results. The school did not feel there would 
necessarily be an adverse impact socially or educationally, and there are schools 
nearby with mixed age classes and which are outstanding. Some of these concerns 
could be mitigated, however all would be the responsibility of the school to manage. 
These issues lead to the almost universal concern that whatever method was used, 
and however well the school managed it, it placed an additional teaching and 
management burden on the school, and presented a very real worry for parents, 
requiring time for staff to address this. These demands are recognised, and are why 
mixed age classes were referred to in this way.  

Some felt these concerns about mixed age classes, and the fact it would be the 
only school in Horsforth with them, would make it the least popular in the area. 
They felt this would result in children being given places when it was not their first 
preference, which in turn would lead to a lowering of standards. They also felt it 

Page 27



16.5 

16.6 

16.7 

16.8 

would result in drawing in pupils from a wider area, exacerbating traffic issues. This 
last issue is one reason not to over expand in the area.  

Several also felt that a change by a whole form of entry would be easier to reverse 
if numbers fell again in future, as it would not need reorganisation of multiple year 
groups.  

For these reasons many preferred  expansion to 2FE, either permanently or 
temporarily, and this was the position of the governing body. It is felt that a 
permanent expansion to 2FE at this stage would create too many places in the 
area, potentially undermining changes in neighbouring schools, although this may 
be sustainable if some of the housing developments transpire. A temporary 
expansion is not without merit, and has been given serious consideration. It would 
allow time to see what happens to the birth rate, and to ensure the sustainability of 
any long term expansion. It could be agreed for two years without a statutory 
process. It may however complicate the aspiration for an integrated building 
solution. It could also create issues with increased sibling intakes in later years 
which effectively exclude other more local applicants for places. This concern was 
noted as the reason they opposed a temporary expansion by one respondent. 

One respondent claimed there were no disadvantages of 2FE not filling. There is a 
budgetary implication for any school not filling to whatever admission limit it has, as 
they need to plan staffing and resource levels around this number, but only get 
funded for the pupils who actually come into the school. One suggested that an 
intake of 45 could be accommodated without mixed age classes if smaller classes 
were used, however school finances are based around a class size of 30 and this 
would have a major budgetary impact. 

One respondent suggested that under the original transition proposal for the 
changes at Featherbank, it would see surplus space created, which could be used 
to accommodate bulge years on a temporary basis, and address their concerns 
about becoming a smaller school. This would however create a problem in later 
years as the school retained older children and had larger numbers to 
accommodate. It would also complicate who would receive priority in later years 
due to a higher sibling rate arising from the bulge years.  

17 

17.1 

Reduction of choice by removing the infant and junior option in Horsforth, 
linked with the risks associated with transition between infant and junior, and 
the alternative of 3FE infant and 3FE junior. 

Many respondents were opposed to the removal of the infant and junior option, 
feeling that the risks associated with transition between infant and junior schools 
were recognised and accepted on joining the school, indeed that the progression 
offered a positive development for the children who were then better prepared for 
transition to High School. They felt it offered a clear path, understood from the 
outset. They felt an infant school in particular offered a safe and less intimidating 
environment for small children, and both schools were a good size. They also felt 
that this undermined the basic premise for the proposal. Many of these respondents 
felt a 3FE infant and 3FE junior school was a better proposal, a view that was 
strongly expressed in the meetings, despite the fact that up to 270 children would 
be on the constrained Featherbank site, and that more buildings could be needed. 
Some noted this would allow more time to plan the Newlaithes building scheme. 
Many felt this would allow staff to focus on their areas of expertise, although the 
schools themselves have stressed their ability to teach and nurture pupils across 
the primary age range. This sentiment was very clearly expressed in the meetings, 
and many felt the results at both schools (but particularly Featherbank) 

Page 28



17.2 

17.3 

17.4 

17.5 

17.6 

17.7 

17.8 

17.9 

17.10

demonstrated this.  

A few noted their opposition to any expansion, even as infant and junior schools. 

Many respondents did however support the proposals. They cited the more 
rounded education that could be offered in a primary, the possibility of a single 
school for all their primary aged children, the option of going to a  nearer school 
throughout their primary years, and the increased choice between two different 
schools with two different styles and ethos as their main reasons, in addition to the 
transition issues. Some did not like the uncertainty introduced by the both of 
alternative transition arrangements, and felt the original proposal was therefore the 
best. A few noted that those who opposed a change to primaries may only have 
younger children, and may not have yet experienced the of reality of disruption due 
to different training days, travel between sites etc. 

One respondent did note a poor experience moving between the schools, a few 
noted it could be improved, and a few noted that it was a risk they would like to be 
able to avoid, but as these were their nearest schools with good reputations they 
had enrolled there anyway.  

Education Leeds acknowledges that the schools currently manage this change well, 
however it remains a risk which would be removed with the introduction of through 
primaries. It also notes the comments of a few parents that the introduction of two 
very different schools, with a different ethos, provides an element of choice for 
parents who otherwise have little chance of accessing a primary school due to their 
distance to the other primary schools. 

Two respondents suggested a single school or a federation of the two existing 
schools could offer some of the benefits of separate infants and juniors, whilst 
utilising the two sites more effectively to create the additional capacity. The schools 
have not supported this option.  

Several noted that the disruption to pupils during any transition into primary schools 
far outweighed any disruption between infant and junior school. Some felt the focus 
on establishing the new key stage would distract from delivery of a good education 
to the established key stage, although one commented that the long term benefit of 
primary schools would outweigh the short term disruption. 

One suggested childminders would find it harder to cope with two primary schools. 
This would be offset by removing the need to travel to both schools for siblings. 

One respondent asked about the sibling arrangements, and one suggested that it 
could disadvantage Featherbank where one child is at Newlaithes and another is 
preschool – the policy of Education Leeds would continue to apply, and we are 
happy to answer any specific questions. 

One respondent suggested that since 2FE primaries offered greater opportunities it 
would be unfair to expand to 3FE infant and 3FE junior while other 1FE schools 
remained in the area. One suggested both schools become 2FE primaries. 

18 

18.1 

Concerns about the transition arrangements associated with any change to 
through primaries – parents’ views. 

There was very considerable concern that the original proposed transition 
arrangements which envisaged that Featherbank first became a 1FE infant school 
prior to growing into a 1FE primary could make the school unattractive to parents 

Page 29



18.2 

18.3 

18.4 

18.5 

18.6 

and pupils, and vulnerable to closure. Many felt it would be seen as too small, and 
unable to offer the full range of activities and support. It would require additional 
funding to support it in this phase, not needed if other plans were adopted. It was 
even interpreted by some as intended to undermine the school and then close it. 
There is no plan to close this school, and the proposals are intended to build on the 
success and strengths of the two existing schools to increase provision in the area. 
Some parents did note that it did ensure all peer groups were kept together, and 
that no child would have its original expectation of transferring to Newlaithes in year 
3 taken away. 

Many parents felt that whatever transition arrangements were agreed, they should 
allow full parental choice at the end of year 2, and that parents who had entered 
that school on the basis of transferring to Newlaithes should not have that taken 
away from them. They also noted the need to ensure learning was not disrupted 
during the transition.  

Some parents expressed support for an alternative described by Featherbank, 
which showed an even split of pupils at the end of year 2. This is not enforceable 
legally, and is therefore not an option. One respondent felt that alternative 1 was 
best, as it was the only one which ensured Featherbank did not shrink significantly, 
by limiting the places at Newlaithes in year 3. 

The responses demonstrated a wide range of views on all the transition options, 
reflecting the many implications of any of the possible routes forward. There were 
different views on the relative viability of the options, but the key issues were that 
parents should not have the option of continuing to transfer to Newlaithes removed 
from them, and that parental choice should be maximised, meaning the second 
alternative transition plan had most support (notwithstanding a first preference for 
an alternative such as 3FE infant and juniors). Despite the uncertainty that this 
creates, and that it does not guarantee Featherbank does not shrink, the schools 
have indicated a willingness to manage this. 

One parent asked whether Featherbank would be an infant or primary school in 
2011. Under the original transition plan it would be an infant school, under both of 
the alternative transition plans it would be a primary. See Appendix 4 for more 
detail.  

There was significant concern of the effect on the first cohort into year three at 
Featherbank (that they would be the oldest children for several years with no older 
role models) and the first reception cohort at Newlaithes (that they would have only 
much older children as the next oldest for two years). This would apply to any 
transition scheme, and was the basis of some people’s opposition to conversion to 
primaries. 

19 

19.1 

Staffing issues. 

There were concerns about the impact on Featherbank staff associated with the 
downsizing prior to growth. Reassurance was provided by Newlaithes that they 
would ring fence any posts for Featherbank staff, and that secondments could also 
be offered allowing staff to return to Featherbank later. However, as one 
respondent noted, there would be supplication of some posts such as deputy head 
teacher and learning mentor which limited the effectiveness of this offer. It is also 
true that Newlaithes may not need to increase its staffing levels at exactly the same 
time that Featherbank decreases. Whilst overall the number of posts would 
increase, there would be considerable disruption to individual staff and to the team 
at Featherbank if this original transition plan were implemented, which it was felt 

Page 30



19.2 

19.3 

would adversely impact on the delivery of education at the school. 

There is a more detailed analysis of the implications in the HR and union 
responses, and these concerns are acknowledged. 

Several respondents noted the quality of the staff at both schools. Based on this, 
one challenged the comment in the consultation document that primaries can find it 
easier to attract and retain staff due to the greater career opportunities offered. 

20 

20.1

Concern that Featherbank may not be sustainable in the long term as the 
least popular school due to site issues, and that it would be closed. 

Education Leeds is bringing forward these proposals precisely because it believes 
they offer the best long term sustainability. A 2FE school could be downsized in 
future if necessary, without closing any schools, providing ongoing flexibility and 
maintaining choice and diversity of provision. At the present time there are no plans 
to close any school in the area.

  
21 

21.1 

21.2 

21.3 

21.4 

Concerns about funding, particularly of a new key stage at Featherbank and 
Newlaithes. 

The schools and many parents felt strongly that it was unreasonable to expect the 
normal per pupil funding to provide for the set up of a new Key Stage, and sought 
assurances the changes would be properly funded. Any compromise on funding 
would impact on the children’s education. 

Education Leeds will provide the basic building and infrastructure needs of the 
schools, such as classrooms, appropriately sized toilets, and circulation space. In 
general, schools which are expanding are expected to fund new books, tables etc 
from the per pupil funding, approximately half of which is intended for non teaching 
staff and resources. It is recognised that the set up of a new key stage could 
present some additional challenge. Education Leeds is exploring the possibility of 
additional monies in line with those available when establishing a new school

Education Leeds also notes that a ‘reorganisation factor’ will apply to ensure that 
schools which are expanding will have some funding brought forward, ensuring they 
have the funds in place when additional staff and resources are needed, and they 
do not have to wait until the following April as is standard.  

The governing body at Newlaithes, and one other respondent, noted that a primary 
offered fuller control of a school’s finances, aiding sustainability. 

22 

22.1 

22.3 

Governing body support of Featherbank school is conditional on Education 
Leeds support to establish a nursery as part of the proposals. 

The establishment of nursery provision is the responsibility of the Early Years 
Service within the council, to whom this request has been passed. One parent 
noted this as desirable, and it was also raised separately by the head teacher.  

The other conditions of their support are commented on elsewhere, regarding 
transition arrangements that allow full parental choice, and funding of a new key 
stage. The head teacher also made a range of requirements which were not raised 
by the governing body. They will be discussed with the school, however it may not 
be possible to meet all of them. 

24 Claims that the response from Featherbank governing body is misleading. 

Page 31



24.1 The school arranged for a ballot of parents to ascertain their views. Education 
Leeds has not seen this ballot paper so cannot comment on it. The governing body 
noted that since less than half of parents responded, it was not possible to say a 
majority view had emerged. A governor states that there was a 48% response rate 
and the majority supported 3FE infant and junior schools. It was also claimed that 
year two parents’ views had been down weighted as those children would not be 
affected, although this failed to acknowledge that they may have younger siblings. 
Finally they suggested that because per pupil funding varies with age, the overall 
funding would be ‘stretched more’ as a primary school. Another respondent 
suggests the governing body’s letter does not reflect the balance of views in the 
meeting, however it is important to remember many may not choose to speak in 
that forum.  

25 

25.1 

Reducing the admissions limit at Featherbank reduces the chances of getting 
in there. 

This is true, however they would also have opportunity to apply to Newlaithes, so 
they would have an increased chance of getting a place in a Horsforth school, 
subject to the admissions policy which includes a distance criterion.  

26 

26.1 

Is the new community unit at Newlaithes part of a joined up plan? 

This unit was proposed and considered separately to this proposal. It is important 
that we do not delay positive developments at schools whilst the consultation is 
underway, but all additional schemes at schools being considered for expansion are 
assessed in that context to ensure they are mutually compatible. 

  
27 

27.1 

Views that a better solution would be to share the pupils around all the 
schools evenly. 

Whilst this is technically an option, it raises significant issues. It may compromise a 
school’s ability to meet class size pledge. Having exceeded its admissions limit by 
one or two pupils, a school would then find it difficult to refuse any further requests 
for places, and it could be forced to admit many more. This may present 
accommodation issues, and the effects could continue in later years depending on 
the numbers admitted. This could also distort the expectation of local families in 
later years when siblings of these ‘bulge year’ children gain priority over other 
nearer families 

28 

28.1 

Concern that the associated increased need for High School places be 
planned for now, minimising disruption to cohorts that will have already 
faced change during their primary years. 

Education Leeds is aware of the need to plan for high school places, and engaging 
in this work. There are many changes which will affect the requirement for space at 
high schools, and with children increasingly being on the roll of a school but 
receiving some or all of their education off site this will change the utilisation of 
space, potentially creating some spare capacity without the need for further building 
work. Planning for this is ongoing and proposals will be brought forward in due 
course. 

29 

29.1 

Concern that this does not represent equality of investment, as St Margaret’s 
was recently rebuilt. 

This school, and several others in the north west were rebuilt with PFI funding to 

Page 32



deliver the removal of surplus places in the primary review. Primary Capital 
Programme funding is now available to use towards funding sufficiency needs. We 
are currently engaged in consultation on 25 primary expansions for 2010 and 2011, 
and whilst the schemes being considered do offer good quality provision, the scale 
of the investment needed means it is not possible to fund complete rebuilds. 

30 

30.1 

30.2 

30.3 

30.4 

30.5 

Questions regarding the decision making process, and the right to 
object/appeal if parents views are not heard. 

This report summarises the issues raised and gives the revised recommendations 
from Education Leeds based on those responses. They will be considered by Leeds 
City Council’s Executive Board, who will decide whether to accept them, reject 
them, or ask for further work. If they are accepted a statutory notice will be 
published, confirming the details of the final proposals.  

This will provide a further opportunity for representations from all stakeholders. 
Within two months of the end of the notice a final decision must be made by the 
Exec Board, and a report summarising the representations will be provided to assist 
in this. There are some limited rights to appeal against this final decision.  

To influence the decision prior rather than wait for appeal, it is important that people 
respond to the consultation AND statutory notice. Education Leeds will keep 
members of the public informed of developments including any statutory notices 
through the Education Leeds website 
www.educationleeds.co.uk/schoolorganisation and through the schools, amongst 
other ways. To engage further, members of the public are able to attend but not 
speak at Exec Board meetings. They can make deputations to full council meetings, 
held approximately bimonthly, or to Area Committee meetings which comprise local 
councillors for the outer North West wards. Further details of these meetings and 
how to make deputations have been provided as requested. 

Some respondents suggested the opposition of parents and the school to a 
proposal should imply that a proposal cannot proceed and could be challenged. 
When making any decision these views will certainly be a critical consideration, 
must be balanced against all the other duties of the local authority. Many suggested 
that the decision had already been made, which is not true. 

One suggested that schools and governors could have ‘their own agendas’ and so 
parents views must be given equal weighting. All views are considered fully in 
forming the recommendations and making the decision, whoever they are from.  

31 

31.1 

Concern that a failure to minute all meetings at which proposals are 
discussed is unprofessional and does not evidence robust analysis of the 
options. 

The proposals were developed through a range of working discussions between 
Education Leeds officers and therefore were not formally minuted meetings. The 
specific proposals for Horsforth formed part of ongoing city wide work which has 
involved many discussions throughout the organisation and it is not possible to 
minute all these discussions. In addition there is no legal requirement for us to 
minute all meetings. However it is worth noting that the work undertaken for the 
proposals in Horsforth has been thorough and comprehensive and we have utilised 
the professional judgement of our staff to present the consultation. This included 
investigating site plans and the school sites, using officer's professional knowledge 
of the school sites and buildings, a thorough understanding of legislation 

Page 33



concerned, use of maps, projections and historical preference data. 

32 

32.1 

Question seeking clarification of position for in year transfers into the ‘gap 
years’ during transition to primaries. 

Under the transition plans there would be some year groups which did not exist in 
each school during transition. Whilst it raises some issues, this does allow schools 
to plan for their expansion in a gradual and organised manner. Since these groups 
had not been established as reception intakes at that school, they therefore have 
no published admission number associated with them. Advice from the DCSF 
suggests that we could therefore defend any requests for places on the basis that it 
would compromise the delivery of education. Schools would be able to make 
requests to accept these pupils, though would need to consider how they could 
accommodate them, and the fact that once they have let in one child, they would 
have little defence against admitting more. 

33 Comment that consideration be given to co-operation between the schools in 
provision of before and after school club and extended services. 

Page 34



Appendix 3 – Maps showing ‘nearest’ school currently and as primary schools 

Page 35



Appendix 4 – transition alternatives 

The differences between the transition plans are in the timing of when Featherbank raises 
its upper age limit to 11, and in how many additional places are offered in year 3 at 
Newlaithes for the duration of the transition. 

Under the original proposal all children who had joined the infant school expecting to go 
to Newlaithes in year 3 continue to do so. Peer groups are not disturbed. All children 
entering either school in 2011 onwards stay there until transition to High School. The plan 
maximises certainty of pupil numbers and therefore allows clear planning for staffing and 
building works. There is however a significant adverse impact on staffing at Featherbank. 
Financial support would be required to protect the school as numbers fell.  

Alternative 1: Increasing the upper age limit of Featherbank at the outset and restricting 
the places in year 3 at Newlaithes to 30 ensures neither school shrinks throughout the 
transition. It introduces some element of parental choice at the end of year 2. If more than 
30 wish to transfer the admissions policy will determine who gets a place. It will disrupt 
peer groups, and it introduces uncertainty to the transition. 

Alternative 2 (now the recommended solution): Increasing the upper age limit of 
Featherbank at the outset and maintaining 60 places in year 3 at Newlaithes ensures all 
parents have complete free choice about staying in Featherbank or moving to Newlaithes 
in year 3. It therefore cannot guarantee that Featherbank does not shrink, and that 
financial support would not therefore be needed, but in all probability some would choose 
each school and numbers will not drop as significantly. Peer group disruption and 
uncertainty remain. 

Legal step Initial proposal 
‘preferred option’

Alternative 1 Alternative 2 

Featherbank raises upper age limit 
to 11 

Sept 2014 Sept 2011 Sept 2011 

Featherbank reduces admissions 
limit to 30 

Sept 2011 Sept 2011 Sept 2011 

Newlaithes reduces lower age limit 
to 5, with (reception) admissions 
limit of 60 

Sept 2011 Sept 2011 Sept 2011 

Newlaithes reduces additional 
entry in year 3 to 30 places 

NA – still admits 
60 in year 3 

Sept 2011 NA – still admits 
60 in year 3 

Newlaithes admits final group into 
year 3 

Sept 2013 Sept 2013 Sept 2013 

All year groups established in 
Featherbank 

Sept 2017 Sept 2014* Sept 2014* 

All year groups established in 
Newlaithes 

Sept 2013 Sept 2013* 

* Note this cannot be guaranteed. Because all children already on roll at Featherbank have 
the legal right to stay, there is uncertainty about where the larger cohorts on roll in 
Featherbank in September 2010 may choose to move to in year 3. It is possible (though 
highly unlikely) that it could take until 2017 for all year groups at either school to be 
established. 

The following tables show how places would vary by year groups under the three different 
options. 

Page 36



Original proposal – ‘preferred option’ 

Alternative 1 

Alternative 2 – now the recommended solution 

Rec Yr 1 Yr 2 Yr 3 Yr 4 Yr 5 Yr 6
Total 

Pupils

Total 

Classes
Rec Yr 1 Yr 2 Yr 3 Yr 4 Yr 5 Yr 6

Total 

Pupils

Total 

Classes

60 60 60 180 6 2010 60 60 60 60 240 8

30 60 60 150 5 2011 60 60 60 60 60 300 10

30 30 60 120 4 2012 60 60 60 60 60 60 360 12

30 30 30 90 3 2013 60 60 60 60 60 60 60 420 14

30 30 30 30 120 4 2014 60 60 60 60 60 60 60 420 14

30 30 30 30 30 150 5 2015 60 60 60 60 60 60 60 420 14

30 30 30 30 30 30 180 6 2016 60 60 60 60 60 60 60 420 14

30 30 30 30 30 30 30 210 7 2017 60 60 60 60 60 60 60 420 14

FEATHERBANK SITE NEWLAITHES SITE 

Rec Yr 1 Yr 2 Yr 3 Yr 4 Yr 5 Yr 6
Total 

Pupils

Total 

Classes
Rec Yr 1 Yr 2 Yr 3 Yr 4 Yr 5 Yr 6

Total 

Pupils

Total 

Classes

60 60 60 180 6 2010 60 60 60 60 240 8

30 60 60 30-60 180-210 6-7 2011 60 0-30 60 60 60 240-270 8-9

30 30 60 30-60 30-60 180-240 6-8 2012 60 60 0-30 0-30 60 60 240-300 8-10

30 30 30 30-60 30-60 30-60 180-270 6-9 2013 60 60 60 0-30 0-30 0-30 60 240-330 8-11

30 30 30 30 30-60 30-60 30-60 210-300 7-10 2014 60 60 60 60 0-30 0-30 0-30 240-330 8-11

30 30 30 30 30 30-60 30-60 210-270 7-9 2015 60 60 60 60 60 0-30 0-30 300-360 10-12

30 30 30 30 30 30 30-60 210-240 7-8 2016 60 60 60 60 60 60 0-30 360-390 12-13

30 30 30 30 30 30 30 210 7 2017 60 60 60 60 60 60 60 420 14

FEATHERBANK SITE NEWLAITHES SITE 

Rec Yr 1 Yr 2 Yr 3 Yr 4 Yr 5 Yr 6
Total 

Pupils

Total 

Classes
Rec Yr 1 Yr 2 Yr 3 Yr 4 Yr 5 Yr 6

Total 

Pupils

Total 

Classes

60 60 60 180 6 2010 60 60 60 60 240 8

30 60 60 0-60 150-210 5-7 2011 60 0-60 60 60 60 240-300 8-10

30 30 60 0-60 0-60 120-240 4-8 2012 60 60 0-60 0-60 60 60 240-360 8-12

30 30 30 0-60 0-60 0-60 90-270 3-9 2013 60 60 60 0-60 0-60 0-60 60 240-420 8-14

30 30 30 30 0-60 0-60 0-60 120-300 4-10 2014 60 60 60 60 0-60 0-60 0-60 240-420 8-14

30 30 30 30 30 0-60 0-60 150-270 5-9 2015 60 60 60 60 60 0-60 0-60 300-420 10-14

30 30 30 30 30 30 0-60 180-240 6-8 2016 60 60 60 60 60 60 0-60 360-420 12-14

30 30 30 30 30 30 30 210 7 2017 60 60 60 60 60 60 60 420 14

FEATHERBANK SITE NEWLAITHES SITE 

Page 37



Page 38

This page is intentionally left blank



REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OF EDUCATION LEEDS 

EXECUTIVE BOARD: 7th April 2010 

SUBJECT: Outcome of the statutory consultation for the expansion of primary 
provision for September 2011 

  

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

PURPOSE OF THIS REPORT 
  
1 In December 2009 Executive Board approved plans to consult on the permanent 

expansion of seven primary schools to take additional pupils with effect from 
September 2011. This report summarises the outcome of the consultation, and 
requests permission to publish statutory notices. 

  
BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

2 In October 2009 Executive Board approved the formal consultation on plans to 
permanently expand seventeen primary schools for September 2010 in line with 
the authority’s statutory duty to ensure sufficiency of school places. Following 
consultation, in February the Executive Board gave permission to publish statutory 
notices for these proposals.  

  
3 In December 2009 and January 2010 the Executive Board approved further 

consultation on changes to a total of nine schools across Leeds, in order to meet 
continued increasing demand for primary places for September 2011. This report 
outlines the response to that consultation on the expansion of six schools. A 
separate report details the response to the consultation for three schools in the 
Horsforth area. 

  
RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

  

4 The capital works required to deliver the expansion of schools for 2011, including 
the schools outlined in this report, will be funded through the Education capital 
programme. Although detailed designs and costs have not at this stage been 
developed, the current indicative budget is in the region of £3m. Further reports, 
seeking financial approval for the fully costed specific schemes will be brought to 
the Board.  

  

RECOMMENDATIONS 

Agenda Item: 

Originator: George Turnbull  

Telephone: 2243239

Agenda Item 7

Page 39



5 The Executive Board is asked to: 
i) note the outcome of the consultation to expand six schools: Windmill Primary, 
Clapgate Primary, Ryecroft Primary, Blackgates Primary, Calverley CE Primary 
and Cross Gates Primary 

  
 ii) approve publication of statutory notices for the expansion of four schools 

namely Windmill Primary, Clapgate Primary, Ryecroft Primary and Blackgates 
Primary; 

  
 iii) approve the withdrawal of the proposals to expand Cross Gates Primary and 

Calverley CE Primary. 
  

Page 40



REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OF EDUCATION LEEDS 

EXECUTIVE BOARD:  7th April 2010

SUBJECT: Outcome of the statutory consultation for the expansion of primary 
provision for September 2011

Electoral Wards Affected:

All 

   
  Ward Members consulted 
  (referred to in report) 

Specific Implications For:

Equality & Diversity 

Community Cohesion 

Narrowing the Gap 

     

 Eligible for Call-in                       Not Eligible for Call-in   
        (Details contained in the Report)      

1.0 PURPOSE OF THIS REPORT 
  
1.1 In December 2009 Executive Board approved plans to consult on the permanent 

expansion of seven primary schools to take additional pupils with effect from 
September 2011. This report summarises the outcome of the consultation, and 
requests permission to publish statutory notices. 

  
2.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

2.1 In December 2009 and January 2010 the Executive Board approved consultation 
on changes to a total of nine schools across Leeds, in order to meet continued 
increasing demand for primary places for September 2011. This report outlines the 
response to that consultation on the expansion of six of the nine schools. A 
separate report details the response to the consultation for three schools in the 
Horsforth area. 

  
3.0 THE MAIN ISSUES 
  
3.1 A statutory process is required for the permanent expansion of schools which 

�

�

�

�

Agenda Item: 

Originator: George Turnbull 

Telephone: 2243239

Page 41



results in an increase in the schools’ capacity by both

• more than 30 pupils and 

• 25% or 200 pupils (whichever is the lesser). 

The proposals for changes to six primary schools meet this requirement.  They are 
as follows:
Planning Area School Name Current 

Capacity 
Proposed 
Capacity 

Morley Blackgates Primary 300 420 
Belle Isle Clapgate Primary 315 420 
Belle Isle Windmill Primary 315 420 
Armley / 
Wortley 

Ryecroft Primary 210 420 

Calverley Calverley CE 270 420 
Cross Gates Cross Gates Primary 210 420 

  
3.2 The annual consultation on admissions limits includes these proposals. Both 

processes will have been completed by August 2010, allowing parents who are 
then expressing a preference for places in September 2011 to know the sizes of 
the schools. 

  
3.3 Consultation Process 
3.3.1 The consultation ran from 4 January to 12 February 2010. Public meetings were 

held at each of the affected schools. A single consultation document was made 
available to all of the schools and communities affected, including pupils, parents 
and carers, school governors, ward members and other stakeholders. It included 
details of these meetings, of how to respond to the consultation, and of the next 
steps in the process. A full list of consultees is in Appendix 1. 

  
3.3.2 There were 23 responses to the consultation. Approximately 100 people attended 

the meetings in total. Full details of all of the responses are on 
www.educationleeds.co.uk/schoolorganisation. A full set of meeting minutes is 
also available. A summary of the issues raised is as follows.  

  
3.4 Sustainability of the proposals 

3.4.1 Pupil projections are based on the known births by postcode area, and therefore, 
are robust at this level, but local distribution of those children to individual schools 
can vary according to parental preference. We have a legal duty to ensure that 
there is sufficient provision in the area for those children. We have looked at the 
city wide situation, and at neighbouring areas in developing the specific proposals. 
The intention in formulating the proposals was to ensure all parents can access 
good local schools, a principle that has been universally accepted and welcomed 
throughout the consultation. 

  
3.4.2 All the changes are proposed on the basis of permanent expansion. Current long 

term Office for National Statistics (ONS) data projects birth numbers continuing to 
rise, albeit at a slower rate, until around 2018. The proposals will not result in 
unreasonable travel distances, will not undermine neighbouring schools and are 
sustainable for the foreseeable future. 

  
3.5 Calverley CE Primary School 

3.5.1 Pupil projections have been a particular concern in relation to the proposal for 

Page 42



Calverley CE Primary. Whilst the population in that area is growing we believe that 
a permanent expansion of the school to 60 places per year is not yet justified by 
the local birth numbers. Based on these numbers Calverley children will continue 
to be able to access provision in either of the village schools in the short term 
without an increase in capacity. It is therefore recommended that the proposal to 
permanently expand Calverley CE Primary School in 2011 is withdrawn. We 
will continue to monitor the number of births in the area and review the local 
situation, and may revisit discussions with ward members and the schools in the 
future. 

  
3.6 Cross Gates Primary School 
  
3.6.1 We acknowledge the concerns raised during consultation that in the case of Cross 

Gates Primary the demographic pressure is coming from a large planning area, 
and that an expansion at this school may not be sustainable... Travel routes from 
much of the area to the school mean this is not a realistic choice for many, and 
there is a concern that any over expansion could also undermine some 
neighbouring schools, particularly in the Seacroft area. It is therefore 
recommended that the proposal to permanently expand Cross Gates Primary 
is withdrawn. We will continue to monitor the situation on an ongoing basis.

3.7 How schools were identified? 
  
3.7.1 The first step in developing the proposals was to identify the areas where more 

places were needed. Further detail on the demographic data for each school was 
then considered. Next a combination of desktop appraisal and site visits 
established where viable schemes existed. Input from the schools, additional 
information on parental preference patterns, and the ability of the schools to 
manage the changes were also considered. The proposals were identified from 
the analysis and informal discussions with schools. In developing proposals we 
were also mindful of the longer term pupil projections, the sustainability of the 
proposals, and the possibility of delivering further schemes to meet continuing 
need.  

3.8 Concern about the potential impact on educational outcomes, both in terms 
of larger schools and staff requirements. 

3.8.1 The increase in pupil numbers will bring with it an increase in pupil-based funding, 
allowing the schools to provide the teaching and non-teaching staff required. The 
infant class size legislation still applies, and would not be effected by enlargement. 
There is no reason to suppose that a larger school means lower standards, and it 
can facilitate a greater breadth and depth of learning offer for children. Larger 
schools can also offer greater potential for staff development. School Improvement 
Officers will be engaged with the schools to expand to support them through these 
changes. Project Managers and Change Management Coordinators will further 
support the schools during the changes. 

3.9 Impact that an increase in size might have on the ethos of a school and its 
role in the community

3.9.1 Whilst the management and leadership of a school will reflect its size, this does 
not need to impact on the ‘feel’ of the school for children and families. The existing 
governing bodies and head teachers have been supportive of the changes. 
Expansion does not in itself necessitate changes in class sizes or the staff to pupil 

Page 43



ratio since funding is allocated on a per pupil basis, and based on class sizes of 
30. These are issues which the schools and governing bodies manage. An9. are 
experienced in. 

3.9.2 Some halls may not be able to accommodate the whole school in their main hall 
for whole school events such as dining or assemblies. Many schools were not 
concerned about this, and were confident that they could to manage split 
arrangements. This was not a concern for School Councils.  

3.10 The physical impact of larger schools on transport and traffic issues.  

3.10.1 Any additional building works required as part of these projects will be subject to 
the normal Planning application process. This includes engagement with the 
Highways Agency, and with local residents, and will cover traffic issues. Any 
additional pupil numbers may place an additional requirement on the local road 
networks, but planning policy may not necessarily provide for more parking 
spaces. Remodelling of parking and access to school sites, including the options 
of drop off zones and walking buses, will need to be addressed on a school by 
school basis, and will need to ensure safety of children and all road users. 

  
3.10.2 Planning applications will also be subject to scrutiny by bodies such as Sport 

England, a statutory consultee, which will be concerned to protect existing green 
space from over development. 

3.10.3 Work on detailed plans would be scheduled to start in summer 2010 following a 
final decision. These would be drawn up in consultation with the schools, and 
would consider the planning issues for residents, staff and families. Plans would 
need to be available in time to ensure that schemes requiring additional space 
could be delivered for September 2011. At Clapgate Primary and Windmill Primary 
well developed schemes already exist. 

3.11 Is there sufficient funding for the expansion and what are the implications 
for individual school budgets? 

3.11.1 Schools are funded on a per pupil basis, and this amount includes funding for 
teachers, support staff and the resources required. This means that schools 
should get the funding appropriate for the number of children they admit. Funding 
is normally given to schools in the April of each academic year, based on the 
census taken in the January of that year. Clearly staff and equipment will need to 
have been in place since the preceding September. A ‘reorganisation factor’ within 
the school funding formula will ensure delivery of this revenue at the point when it 
is needed. 

3.11.2 There is considerable experience of managing building projects within Education 
Leeds, and all schemes will have a dedicated project manager to manage risk, 
including budget risks.

3.12 Space and facilities  
  
3.12.1 Building Bulletin 99 provides guidance for the space requirements for school sites 

when building new schools, and as far as possible any schemes will aim to meet 
these standards. This includes infrastructure and play space needs. The initial 
building scheme proposals include the provision of toilets, cloakroom and 
circulation space, and will seek to reprovide hard play area where this is removed. 

Page 44



  
3.12.2 Schemes may be delivered in phases, ensuring sufficient accommodation at all 

times as far as possible not building ahead of need, and minimising disruption. 
Schools will have a key role in agreeing what will ensure the health, safety and 
well being of their pupils and staff...  

  
3.12.3 The proposals do not involve removal or addition of private users, extended 

services provision, or Children’s Centres.  
  
3.12.4 Additional building will be provided predominantly through modular 

accommodation, which provides high quality buildings, meeting all current 
buildings regulations, and designed to last in excess of 50 years. It is 
manufactured off site, enabling it to be assembled on site very quickly with least 
disruption to the schools, and providing flexibility to be moved in the long term if 
necessary.  

  
3.13 Future secondary school places 
  
3.13.1 The numbers entering primary school now will take seven years to reach high 

school, providing time to plan for this need. In this time, significant changes to the 
use of secondary school accommodation are expected, especially for the 14-19 
age range. More pupils are already being educated off site, often to access 
specialist courses, and sixth form provision is likely to be consolidated. These 
trends are likely to continue, impacting significantly on the overall requirements for 
secondary school accommodation. Work to plan for this is in its early stages and 
will continue in the context of a rising population trajectory within the 14-19 
strategy... 

  
4.0 LEGAL AND RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
  
4.1 The capital works required to deliver the expansion of schools for 2011, including 

the schools outlined in this report, will be funded through the Education capital 
programme. Although detailed designs and costs have not at this stage been 
developed, the current indicative budget is in the region of £3m. Further reports, 
seeking financial approval for the fully costed specific schemes will be brought to 
the Board. Phasing of some schemes may result in expenditure over two or more 
financial years. 

  
5.0 RECOMMENDATIONS 
  
5.1 The Executive Board is asked to: 

i) note the outcome of the consultation to expand six schools: Windmill Primary, 
Clapgate Primary, Ryecroft Primary, Calverley CE Primary, Blackgates Primary 
and Cross Gates Primary. 

  
 ii) approve publication of statutory notices for the expansion of four schools: 

Windmill Primary, Clapgate Primary, Ryecroft Primary and Blackgates Primary; 
  
 iii) approve the withdrawal of the proposals to expand Cross Gates Primary and 

Calverley CE Primary. 
  
6.0 BACKGROUND REPORTS 
 22 July 2009 Proposed increases in Admissions Limits for September 2010 

Page 45



 17 June 2009 Expanding Primary Place Provision 
 17 June 2009 Proposal to add specialist community provision at Whitkirk Primary 

School for pupils with complex physical difficulties and medical needs. 
 October 2009 Letter from Office of Schools Adjudicator 
 October 2009 Proposal for statutory consultation for the expansion of primary 

provision for September 2010 
 December 2009 Proposal for statutory consultation for the expansion of primary 

provision for September 2011 
 December 2009 Proposal for statutory consultation for changes to primary 

provision at Newlaithes Junior School and Featherbank Infant School in 2011 
 February 2010 Outcome of consultation for the expansion of primary provision for 

September 2010 

Page 46



 APPENDIX 1 – List of consultees and meetings, and summary of responses. 

Summary of written responses 
Respondent 

School Parent Local 
Resident 

Member of 
Staff 

Governor Other Total 

Windmill PS 1     1 
Clapgate PS      0 
Ryecroft PS   1  1 2 
Calverley CE 4 4  1 4 13 
Blackgates PS     2 2 
Cross gates PS 1   1 3 5 

Consultee Consultation method

Parents/carers of children at directly affected 

schools

individual letters, documents, and spare response 

sheets

Parents/ carers of children at other primary 

schools

letters advising documents and spare response 

sheets at schools and on line

Parents/ carers of children preferencing Horsforth 

schools for Sept 2010

individual letters, documents, and spare response 

sheets (sent 2 weeks into consultation)

All Schools in areas posters advertising meetings and spare documents.

LCC Councillors documents

MPs electronic link to document

Education Leeds board documents

Education Leeds Heads of Service electronic link to document

LCC Leadership Team electronic link to document

Early Years Managers electronic link to document

Locality Enablers electronic link to document

Area Managers electronic link to document

Leeds Racial Equality Council electronic link to document

Leeds Chamber of Commerce electronic link to document

Trades Unions electronic link to document

Catholic diocese electronic link to document

C of E diocese electronic link to document

Children's Centres documents, posters and spare response sheets

Private Early Years Providers documents, posters and spare response sheets

All libraries in Leeds documents and posters

Family of schools meeting

School Councils at Newlaithes and West End meeting

Public meeting

Area Management Committees meeting

Staff & Governing bodies at all schools meeting

Page 47



Page 48

This page is intentionally left blank



REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OF EDUCATION LEEDS 

EXECUTIVE BOARD:  7 April 2010 

SUBJECT: Outcome of consultation on the provision of girls-only education in 
Leeds

  

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

1 PURPOSE OF THIS REPORT 
  
1.1 This report informs the Executive Board of the outcome of the city-wide public 

consultation on the future of the provision of government funded, girls-only, 
secondary education in Leeds.  

  
2 BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

2.1 At its meeting in January 2010, the Executive Board approved a public 
consultation on a proposal to stop providing girls-only education in Leeds.  The 
Executive Board approved this consultation in response to concerns about closing 
the one remaining girls-only school in Leeds. The council wished to first determine 
the need across the city from parents for single sex education for girls. 

2.2 The consultation ran from 7 January to 5 March 2010 and has been one of the 
largest scale public consultations on a single educational issue that Leeds has 
held in the last ten years. The consultation document set out: 

• what the consultation was about;  

• why the council was proposing to stop providing girls-only education; and 

• how people could comment. 
  
2.3 The context for this consultation is that at present, not enough parents in Leeds 

are choosing single sex education for their daughters. The number of first 
preferences for the one remaining girls-only school in Leeds has dropped from 127 
in the 2003/04 academic year to 63 in 2009/10.  

  
2.4 Education is the key to improving life chances for children and young people in 

Leeds.  This means we need good, inclusive and improving schools.  We have to 
make sure that every school is strongly supported and valued by parents, carers 
and its local community.  At the moment, taking parental preference in Year 6 as 
the key data, parents and carers in Leeds are not expressing a strong preference 
for girls-only education.

2.5 During the consultation the following issues emerged:  

• a significant number of respondents focused on the future of Parklands 

Agenda Item: 

Originator: Ros Vahey 

Telephone: 0113 22 43749

Agenda Item 8

Page 49



Girls’ High School. Executive Board is receiving another report at this 
meeting that considers those issues;  

• the overall level of response city-wide was low with no significant demand 
for girls-only provision emerging as a result of the consultation; 

• the quality of education is more important than single sex provision even 
when considering the faith perspective, although a choice is preferred; 

• there were suggestions that in the future consideration could be given to 
providing a central location for any single sex provision which might make it 
more accessible to families in different parts of the city; 

• there were concerns about the transition arrangements available to those 
families who have already specifically chosen girls-only education and 
these are considered in a separate report; 

• a number of respondents commented on low attendance at the public 
meetings and perceived this as linked to insufficient promotion of the 
consultation to particular communities of Leeds. 

2.6 Conclusions 

2.61 This consultation has not exposed any new demand for girls-only education. 
Parents across the city who participated in the consultation emphasised that they 
preferred high quality provision.  This supports the principle of ensuring good 
schools, improving schools and inclusive schools in Leeds.  

2.62 Those who contributed to the consultation often held strong views that there 
should be some choice in their local area for those parents or carers who wish to 
express a preference for girls-only provision.  The Executive Board may wish to 
consider whether long term feasibility work should be undertaken over the next 
eighteen months to assess any prospective viability in partnership with specific 
local communities such as the Muslim community.  

3.0 Resource Implications

3.1 If the Executive Board decides to continue the provision of girls-only education in 
the city and decides to close Parklands Girls’ High School and replace it with a co-
educational academy, the council would need to consider how and where it would 
re-provide girls-only education. 

4.0 Recommendations  
  
4.1 The Executive Board is asked to: 

(i) note the outcome of the consultation to stop providing girls-only 
secondary education in Leeds.  

(ii) stop providing girls-only secondary education at Parklands Girls High 
School in Leeds.  

(iii) receive a further report as soon as possible on the feasibility of making 
single sex education available for girls in a more central location. 

Page 50



REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OF EDUCATION LEEDS 

EXECUTIVE BOARD:  7 April 2010

SUBJECT: Outcome of consultation on the provision of girls-only education in 
Leeds

Electoral Wards Affected:

All 

   
  

Specific Implications For:

Equality & Diversity 

Community Cohesion 

Narrowing the Gap 

     

Eligible for Call-in                       Not Eligible for Call-in   
        (Details contained in the Report)      

1.0 PURPOSE OF THIS REPORT 
  
1.1 This report informs the Executive Board of the outcome of the city-wide public 

consultation on the future of the provision of government funded, girls-only, 
secondary education in Leeds.  

  
2.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
  
2.1 At its meeting in January 2010, the Executive Board approved a public 

consultation on a proposal to stop providing girls-only education in Leeds.  The 
Executive Board wished to determine the need across the city from parents for 
single sex education for girls. 

  
2.2 The consultation ran from 7 January to 5 March 2010 and has been one of the 

largest scale public consultations on a single educational issue that Leeds has 
held in the last ten years. The consultation document set out: 

• what the consultation was about;  

• why the council was proposing to stop providing girls-only education; and 

• how people could comment. 
2.3 The context for this consultation is that at present, not enough parents in Leeds 

�

�

�

�

�

Agenda Item: 

Originator: Ros Vahey 

Telephone: 0113 22 43749

Page 51



are choosing single sex education for their daughters. The number of first 
preferences for the one remaining girls-only school in Leeds has dropped from 127 
in the 2003/04 academic year to 63 in 2009/10.  More recent first preferences for 
2010/11 totalled 49 indicating a long term decline in the need for girls-only 
provision.   

  
2.4 Education is the key to improving life chances for children and young people in 

Leeds.  This means we need good, inclusive and improving schools.  We have to 
make sure that every school is strongly supported and valued by parents, carers 
and its local community.  At the moment, taking parental preference in Year 6 as 
the key data, parents and carers in Leeds are not making a strong preference for 
girls-only education. 

  
2.5 Details of the consultees can be found in Appendix 1. A total of ten public 

meetings were held in different venues across the city including two in the city 
centre.  

  
2.6 In response to a request from the community, two additional community meetings 

were held during school hours for women-only. Young people were surveyed at 
both the Ice Cube in Millennium Square during half-term and at the Leeds Health 
and Wellbeing celebration on 24 February.  A focused meeting with leaders of the 
Leeds mosques was held on 10th March at their request.  (17 attended).   

  
2.7 In total, attendance at the various meetings was approximately 167 people (some 

of these represent attendance at more than one meeting). Overall the participants 
included teaching staff, students, governors, parents and local residents, 
journalists, young people and leaders of the Leeds mosques. A total of 25 written 
responses were received, (including one petition with 1,079 signatures). Of the 
small number of responses received none were in support of the proposal to stop 
girls-only education, and all were against. However by contrast two surveys of the 
views of pupils were conducted in which 32 supported the proposal, 24 opposed it 
with 23 unsure.  

  
3.0 THE MAIN ISSUES 
  
3.1 The main issues have been identified from all of the meetings and written 

submissions.   
  
3.2 During the consultation the following issues emerged:  

• a significant number of respondents focused on the future of Parklands 
Girls’ High School which is subject to a separate paper.  

• the overall level of response city-wide was low with no significant demand 
from across the city for girls-only provision emerging as a result of the 
consultation; 

• the quality of education is more important than single sex provision even 
when considering the faith perspective, although a choice is preferred; 

• there were suggestions that in the future consideration could be given to 
providing a central location for any single sex provision which might make it 
more accessible to other families living near or in the city centre; 

• there were concerns about the transition arrangements available to those 
families who have already specifically chosen girls-only education and 
these are considered in a separate report; 

• a number of respondents commented on low attendance at the public 
meetings and perceived this as linked to insufficient promotion of the 
consultation to particular communities in Leeds.  

  

Page 52



3.3 A full summary of the consultation responses is provided in Appendix 3. All 
responses can be found at www.educationleeds.co.uk/schoolorganisation. 
The meeting notes are not intended to be a verbatim account, but do represent the 
questions and views raised throughout the process, either in writing, or during the 
formal consultation meetings. Six main themes, are provided below. 

3.4.1 Quality 
 The quality and standard of the education offered by a school was the main factor 

influencing parents’ choice of a secondary school for their daughter. Parents cited 
the decline in academic standards at the one remaining girls-only school in Leeds 
as a contributing factor for not choosing girls-only education for their daughter. 
There was a small number of respondents who indicated that they had chosen to 
send their daughters to independent girls-only schools either in, or outside of 
Leeds as a result. Some, though not all, of these respondents had chosen 
independent faith schools for their daughters.

  
3.4.2 Location
 The location of the only girls-only high school was cited as a factor in determining 

whether or not parents would make a preference for girls-only education for their 
daughter. The location was not considered to be accessible for all, particularly for 
families living in the south of the city. Some respondents raised concerns about 
the safety of girls travelling across the city to attend a girls-only school situated in 
the east of Leeds, particularly as they perceive transport links for that journey to be 
fragmented. There were suggestions that if the provision was located in the centre 
of the city, there might be a higher demand for girls-only education.  

3.4.3 Level of Interest from the community. 
 Despite the scale of the consultation, the overall attendance at the public meetings 

was low. At five of the meetings there were no members of the public present, 
suggesting a lack of interest in the subject of girls-only education in those parts of 
the city.  

The most well attended meeting was the one held at Parklands Girls’ High School 
with the majority of the audience  made up of students, staff, governors and 
parents connected to the school. The main topic of conversation was what was 
happening to Parklands High School rather than girls-only provision. The second 
most well attended meeting was the community meeting for women-only held at 
the Bangladeshi Community Centre facilitated by the Shantona Women’s Centre 
in Harehills.  

The level of interest at these two meetings would suggest that the main demand 
for girls-only education is coming from the community who live nearest to 
Parklands Girls’ High School who choose the school because it is their nearest 
school; and the Muslim community who want the option of single sex education for 
faith reasons.  It is important to the leaders of the Leeds Mosques for faith reasons 
that a large diverse city like Leeds provides the choice for parents of girls-only 
education.   

3.4.4 Supporting parental preference 
 The majority of the girls whose parents/carers have previously expressed a 

preference for girls-only education and whose daughters are currently attending 
the girls-only school are from a white-British background and local to the school.  
Most of the respondents, including those from communities whose faith 
encourages single sex education, put quality first, above single sex education if 
they had to make a choice between the two. However, parents and carers would 

Page 53



prefer not to choose between their faith and high quality education for their 
daughters. Representatives from the Leeds’ mosques and other leaders from the 
Muslim community expressed concern at the possible removal of choice of girls-
only provision in the city. 

  
3.4.5 Advantages for girls
 Throughout the consultation period, a few respondents cited research that 

suggested that girls achieve more academically and socially in girls-only schools. 
While there is a body of research evidence that supports this view, there is also a 
body of research evidence that indicates that the key factors in determining exam 
success are pupil characteristics, socio-economic background and the quality of 
teachers rather than the gender of the schools intake. Furthermore there is no 
evidence in Leeds that girls are underachieving in co-educational schools.  Indeed 
the views of pupils who surveyed also supported the proposal to stop girls-only 
provision.  

  
3.5 Conclusions 
3.5.1 This consultation has not exposed any new demand for girls-only education. 

Parents across the city who participated in the consultation emphasised that they 
preferred high quality provision.  This supports the principle of ensuring good 
schools, improving schools and inclusive schools in Leeds.  

  
3.5.2 Those who contributed to the consultation often held strong views that there 

should be some choice in their local area for those parents or carers who wish to 
express a preference for girls-only provision.  The Executive Board may wish to 
consider whether longer term feasibility work should be undertaken over the next 
eighteen months to assess any prospective viability in partnership with specific 
local communities such as the Muslim community.  This might result in future 
proposals.  (see 5.1.2) 

4. IMPLICATIONS FOR COUNCIL POLICY AND GOVERNANCE 
  
4.1 Any decision to establish girls-only education on a site other than the Parklands 

site would change the priority areas for all of the surrounding secondary schools. 
Such changes would need to be reflected in the published admission 
arrangements for the year they were to be introduced.

5.0 LEGAL AND RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 
  
5.1 Statutory implications 
  
5.1.1 The local authority has a duty to keep under review all educational provision to 

make sure that it is meeting the needs of children and young people. The principle 
of maintaining or ceasing to maintain girls-only provision is a decision which rests 
with the local authority.  

  
5.1.2 However, if at any time the local authority chooses to establish or to continue to 

provide girls-only education on a new site then this would require further 
consultation and a statutory process around specific proposals, including a 
competition to determine who would run such provision. 

  
5.2 Resource implications 
  
5.2.1 There is no immediate resource implication of ceasing to maintain girls-only 

provision in Leeds apart from those outlined in the accompanying report on 
Parklands Girls High School.  However if the Executive Board decides to continue 

Page 54



the provision of girls-only education in the city and decides to close Parklands 
Girls’ High School and replace it with a co-educational academy, the local 
authority would need to consider how and where it would re-provide girls-only 
education.  

  
6 RECOMMENDATIONS 
  
6.1 The Executive Board is asked to: 

i. note the outcome of the consultation to stop providing girls-only secondary 
education in Leeds.  

ii. stop providing girls-only secondary education at Parklands Girls High 
School in Leeds.  

iii. receive a further report as soon as possible on the feasibility of making 
single sex education available for girls in a more central location.

  
7 BACKGROUND REPORTS 
  
 Executive Board January 2009 – The National Challenge and structural change to 

secondary provision in Leeds Progress Report 
Executive Board March 2009 – The National Challenge and Structural Change to 
Secondary Provision in Leeds 
Executive Board October 2009 - The National Challenge and Structural Change 
to Secondary Provision in Leeds 

 Executive Board January 2010 - The future of Primrose, City of Leeds, Parklands 
Girls’ High Schools, and of girls-only secondary education in Leeds 

  
  

Page 55



Appendix 1   List of consultees 
  

Schools 

All schools Letter home to distribute, posters advertising meetings, copies of consultation 
booklet, request to advertise in all school communications 

Parklands Personal copy of consultation booklet for each pupil/family, member of staff 
and governor, meetings with staff, governors and public.  

14-19 providers Link to electronic copy of booklet 

Young people Survey of young people: 
14-19 year olds at Ice Cube, Millennium Square, during half term  
9-14 year olds at healthy schools celebration event

Wider community 

Public meetings Ten public meetings distributed across the city 

Women only meetings Bangladeshi centre 
Hamara Centre 

Faith groups Circulated consultation booklet and request to promote consultation through 
many groups, including: 
Leeds Faith Forum, Concord Leeds, Leeds Association of Mosques, Leeds 
Voice, Hamara Centre 
Held separate meeting with councillors, representatives from Mosques across 
Leeds and of others representing Leeds Muslim community 

All libraries Booklets and posters 

All community centres Booklets and posters 

All one stop shops Booklets and posters 

Local media/public Media releases marking beginning of consultation period 
Generated widespread media coverage including Yorkshire Evening Post, 
BBC Radio Leeds, Guardian Leeds, Yorkshire Post and Radio Asian Fever, 
supplemented by:  
Display advert in YEP detailing public meetings 
Announcements advertising public meetings on Sunrise Radio 

Education Leeds 
website 
and infobase 

Details and consultation document uploaded on school organisation team’s 
page 
News item – refreshed regularly throughout process 

Leeds City Council 
website 

News item at beginning of consultation period and refreshed throughout 

Leeds City Council 
talkingpoint 

Details of consultation 

Elected representatives 

Ward members – 
directly affected wards 

Verbal briefing  
Invite to public meeting 
Copy of consultation booklet and covering letter 

Ward members – city 
wide 

Copy of consultation booklet and covering letter 

Local MP Copy of consultation booklet 
Electronic copy to all MPs 

Leeds City Council colleagues 

Corporate leadership 
team 

Email and link to consultation document 

Children’s services 
leadership team 

Email and link to consultation document  

Children’s services 
comms network 

Email and link to consultation document, request to promote through 
organisations 

Locality enablers Link to consultation document and response forms 

Area management team Link to consultation document and response forms 
Education Leeds 

All colleagues Link to consultation document and response forms 
Email to all heads of service to disseminate 

Board Consultation booklet and covering letter 

Leadership teams Consultation booklet and covering letter 
Other statutory consultees 

Neighbouring LEAs Email and link to consultation document 

Learning and Skills 
Council 

Send link to details of consultation 

Catholic Diocese Hard copy of consultation document and covering letter 

Page 56



Electronic link 

Church of England 
Diocese 

Hard copy of consultation document and covering letter 
Email and link to consultation booklet 

Unions Email and link to consultation booklet 
Learning community 

Headteachers Email and link to consultation booklet
Article Headteacher update 

Governors Email and link to consultation booklet 
Article Governor update 

Leeds race equality 
council 

Email and link to consultation booklet 

Chamber of commerce Email and link to consultation document to president 

Parents groups Email and link to consultation document  

  
  

Appendix 2   Summary of Respondents 

Single Sex - Summary of respondents (letters and e-mails) Total 

Councillor 2 

Local Resident 2 

Parent 2 

Parent/carer 2 

Chair of Governors 1 

Community Rep 1 

Parent/governor 1 

Staff 1 

Unknown 13 

Grand Total 25 

Appendix 3    Summary of Consultation Responses 

1 Single sex
About 150 people in total attended public meetings. There were 25 written 
responses all against the proposal and a petition of 1079 signatures 
Two surveys asked young people if they thought there should be girls-only 
provision – the results were: Yes (24), No (32), Neutral (23).In addition there were 
25 announcements on Sunrise Radio from 26/1/10 to 9/2/10 to publicise the 
consultation, in English, Urdu and Punjabi.  

  
2 This summary is not intended to be a verbatim account, but does represent the 

questions and views raised throughout the process, either in writing, or during the 
formal consultation meetings. They have summarised and grouped, as a number 
of respondents, in several different meetings, asked very similar questions using 
slightly different words. In summarising the representations made, every effort has 
been made to reduce repetition without losing any of the points raised. Copies of 
the original responses and meeting minutes are available at 
www.educationleeds.co.uk/schoolorganisation. They are grouped into 6 main 
themes. 

  
3 Theme 1 Consultation issues 
3.1 Concerns that the public meetings were not well publicised and held at 

inconvenient times 
 We publicised the consultation meetings through a variety of channels, (see 

appendix 1. In addition, the consultation received higher than usual coverage by 
the media. Public consultation meetings are normally held during the evening to 
encourage attendance from as many people who may have work commitments 

Page 57



during the day. We arranged a daytime meeting at a central location (Civic Hall) as 
part of the original schedule of meetings. In response to community requests, we 
arranged two further daytime meetings, one in the north and one in the south of 
the city, to hear the views of women with school aged children. Members of the 
public do not have to attend a public meeting to contribute to the consultation 
process. Their views are also accepted in writing, either by post or by email. 

  
3.2 There should have been more consultation meetings in the Harehills area 
 We arranged the consultation meetings to cover a wide geographic spread across 

the city. In response to requests from the community, we arranged a further two 
meetings in Harehills at the Bangladeshi Centre. 

  
3.3 The consultation is worthless as Education Leeds has already made up its 

mind 
 We are using the same process to conduct this consultation as we do for statutory 

consultations. This means that we consider all views before making a 
recommendation to the Executive Board who are responsible for making a 
decision. 

  
3.4 Perceived shortcomings of the consultation document including misleading 

assertion that falling applications at Parklands equates to lack of demand for 
single sex provision 

 The information in the document is based on the data that is available to us from 
our co-ordination of Leeds school admissions.  The admissions process gives us 
an opportunity to collect information about parental preferences for schools based 
in Leeds. Parents are asked to express a preference for named schools; parents 
are not asked to express a preference for either single sex or co-educational 
schools. As there is only one single sex school in Leeds we have included the data 
about that school’s popularity amongst parents. The main reason for holding a 
separate consultation about single sex education for girls is to help us to 
understand the reason for the decline in parental preferences and whether or not 
any new or unmet demand for single sex education exists across the city. 

  
3.5 The issues of girls-only provision and Parklands are inextricably linked 
 We recognise that for many respondents it may be difficult to separate the issue of 

girls-only provision and Parklands Girls’ High School because Parklands is 
currently the only school providing single sex education in the city. However, the 
reason for holding a separate consultation is to help us to understand if there is a 
demand for girls-only education across the city, irrespective of whether Parklands 
Girls’ High School exists. As the majority of the girls attending Parklands Girls’ 
High School come from the area local to the school, it is reasonable to assume 
that parental preference is currently based on nearness to the school rather than 
the fact that it is a single sex school. We need to understand whether current or 
future parents in other areas of the city want girls-only education for their 
daughters.  

4 Theme 2 Belief that single sex education is better 
4.1 Assertion that girls generally do better in a single sex environment 
 The findings of research are mixed.  There are studies which show that girls make 

better progress at girls-only schools, particularly girls with low results at Key Stage 
2.  However, it is difficult to isolate the fact that these are a self selected group 
who have deliberately chosen single sex education and have higher than average 
parental support.  Many girls do equally well and better in co-educational schools.  
Other studies and opinions consider a wider view of education and suggest that 
girls from co-education al schools are better prepared to live and work in society, 
and cope with the pressures of life after school and in higher education.  The 

Page 58



number of state schools where girls or boys are educated separately has fallen 
from over 2500 in the 1960’s to about 400 today. 

  
4.2 Girls-only schools provide a safe environment, and are better for girls who 

suffer abuse or trauma 
 It is extremely rare that a co-educational school does not provide a safe 

environment.  They also have staff who are trained and very skilled at caring for 
and counselling young people.  Schools are judged in their inspections on their 
ability to provide a safe environment and cater for special needs. Only one Leeds 
school is currently judged to need improvement in this area, and that is judged to 
be making good progress by Ofsted. 

4.3 Girls feel less pressure to conform, and are better able to fulfil their 
potential, or follow careers that have been seen as male-dominated 

 We note this opinion. However, there is no evidence in Leeds that girls are 
underachieving or not fulfilling their potential in co-educational schools.

  
4.4 Girls at Parklands are successful and confident 
 We note this opinion. Girls at other schools in Leeds are also successful and 

confident. 

5 Theme 3 Parents should have choice 
5.1 Belief that parents have or should have the right to send their children to 

single sex schools 
 We note this opinion. There is no legal requirement for the council to provide 

single sex education. We are holding this consultation to help us to understand the 
level of demand for girls-only education across the city. 

5.2 The Every Child Matters agenda surely demands option of single sex 
provision 

 We note this opinion. There is no legal requirement under the Children Act for 
councils to provide single sex education.  

6 Theme 4 provision should be accessible 
6.1 A single sex school for the city should be accessible, ideally in a central site 
 We are aware that the majority of parents expressing a preference for the 

daughters to attend the only single sex school are local to the school. One of the 
reasons we are holding the consultation is to help us to understand whether 
factors such as changed location of girls-only provision would increase its 
popularity amongst parents and girls in the city.  

  
6.2 The location of the current girls’ school in a deprived area is believed to be a 

factor in low demand. Location in east of city virtually precludes it as an 
option for south and west of the city.  

 Some of our most successful and popular schools are located in parts of the city 
that have the most complex social issues. Whether factors such as changed 
location of girls-only provision would increase its popularity amongst parents and 
girls in the city is a point we are seeking to test through this consultation.   

  
7 Theme 5  Religious/cultural arguments 
7.1 If parent’s religious beliefs prioritise separate education for girls, Education 

Leeds should provide it 
 We note this opinion. There is no legal requirement for the council to provide 

single sex education on grounds of faith.  
  
7.2 Assertion that Muslim families in Leeds want single sex education 

Page 59



 We note this opinion. There is no legal requirement for the council to provide 
single sex education. There are more girls of the Muslim faith attending co-
educational schools in Leeds than attend the one girls-only school. 

8 Theme 6  Parklands and single sex education 
8.1 Is the proposed closure of Parklands due to poor results? 
 The poor results of 2007 and earlier years brought the school into the 

government’s national challenge and led to the unsatisfactory Ofsted judgement of 
2008.  This has contributed to the school’s decline.  Although the school has 
improved in the last two years this has been the result of considerable outside help 
and subsidy. It has a headteacher loaned by another school, an additional senior 
leader and a national leader of education to support and advise the school.  This 
extra leadership is expensive and much of the cost is borne by the Local Authority 
and other Leeds schools.  The continued decline in pupil numbers means that the 
school must lose more staff to be viable, and cannot generate a budget sufficient 
to provide a suitable curriculum.  

  
8.2 Parklands has poor quality buildings, appears to be neglected and has had 

very little investment 
 There is money available to refurbish Parklands under the Building Schools for the 

Future Programme in Leeds. However, under government regulations the money 
could not be released while the school was judged to be performing poorly or not 
meeting government targets. As the school has been part of the National 
Challenge, it has received significant investment during the last two years to help it 
to improve standards. 

  
8.3 Uncertainty around the future of Parklands has contributed to its loss of 

popularity 
 We note this opinion. There has been a significant decrease in the number of 

parents putting Parklands first when applying for a school for their daughters - 
from 127 in the 2003/04 academic year to 63 in 2009/10. This decrease predates 
the recent proposals for Parklands to close and become an Academy. The school 
was judged to be performing poorly by Ofsted in 2008 and was below the 
government floor target of at least 30% of girls achieving five GCSEs at grades A-
C including English and maths (The National Challenge). Ofsted returned in 2009 
and judged the school’s performance to be satisfactory. The school also met the 
government’s floor target in 2009. However both the Ofsted judgements and the 
school being part of the National Challenge are likely to have impacted on the 
number of applications for school places.  

  
8.4 Parklands is a good and improving school, with excellent staff and a sense 

of pride. 
 We acknowledge that Parklands Girls’ High School has significantly improved in 

the last two years and girls achieved the school’s best outcomes ever in August 
2009.  However, this has been achieved by providing extra resources to improve 
leadership and a high level of external support. Pressure on the school budget is 
threatening the school’s ability to retain staff and therefore puts these 
improvements at risk. 

Page 60



 
      
 

 
Originator: Viv Buckland 
Tel: 0113 247 4956 
Ref AF workprogramme 

 

REPORT TO LEEDS ADMISSION FORUM 
Date 6th April 2010 
Venue: Civic Hall 
Time: 4.00pm 
 
 
ADMISSION FORUM WORK PROGRAMME FOR 2010/11 
 
 
MEETING DATE  June 2010 
 

1. Results of the annual consultation exercise and recommendations to 
Executive Board. 

2. Statistics to include – number of appeals made, ethnic and social mix, 
whether primary schools are meeting class size legislation. 

3. All admission policies should be clear, objective and procedurally fair.  
4. Report from the Challenging Children Sub-Committee on fair access.  
5. Migration of Children from the Colton Area to Primary Schools within the 

Garforth Trust 
6. Customer service satisfaction with the admissions service 
7. Admission to the Sixth Form 

 
 
MEETING DATE November 2010 
 

1. Update on the 2010/11 admission round. 
2. Consultation items proposed by Education Leeds. 
3. Review the published advice to parents and choice advice. 
4. Demographic information and future projections. 
5. Report from the Challenging Children Sub Committee on fair access 

protocols. 
6. Oversubscribed Schools Identifying the reasons why they are chosen 
 

MEETING DATE February 2011 
 

1. Update on the 2010/11 admission round including hotspots. 
2. Report from the Challenging Children Sub Committee on fair access. 
3. Consultation Update – Proposed Admission Number Changes, September   

2012 Round 

Agenda Item 9

Page 61



Page 62

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING
	6 OUTCOME OF STATUTORY CONSULTATION FOR CHANGES TO PRIMARY PROVISION IN HORSFORTH FOR SEPTEMBER 2011
	7 OUTCOME OF THE STATUTORY CONSULTATION FOR THE EXPANSION OF PRIMARY PROVISION FOR SEPTEMBER 2011
	8 OUTCOME OF CONSULTATION ON THE PROVISION OF GIRLS -ONLY EDUCATION IN LEEDS
	9 ADMISSION FORUM WORK PROGRAMME FOR 2010/11

